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PART I

ITEM 1. BUSINESS
Overview

Integrated Information Systems, Inc. (IIS) is a business and technology consultancy. We provide
consulting solutions that are designed to help clients increase revenue, reduce costs, accelerate time to
market and better serve their customers. Since the third quarter of 2000, the market for technology
professional services has changed dramatically and the demand has declined significantly. In the current
marketplace, Information Technology (IT) projects for which clients allocate funding are generally
limited to projects which permit businesses to stay competitive in their markets by enhancing customer
relationships and reducing costs and projects which increase operational security. As a result, we believe
that our service offerings must be able to demonstrate quick and significant return on investment or, in
the security arena, establish a measurable increase in protection. Our success will depend on our ability
to match current service offerings to industry needs, market those offerings effectively and keep pace with
continuing changes in the market for consulting and IT services.

As part of our effort to adjust our structure to better address a rapidly changing and declining IT
services market, we have closed underperforming or vacant regional offices, reduced staff in remaining
offices, recorded material charges related to underutilized data center facility computer equipment and
leasehold improvements and developed and began implementing an aggressive growth strategy through
acquiring like-minded peer consultancies. We closed four such transactions in 2001, a fifth such
transaction during January 2002 and anticipate additional, similar transactions throughout 2002. We
believe that the IIS brand and reputation as a provider of high quality services, and our commitment to
this growth strategy, positions us as an attractive acquisition partner for firms which had not achieved their
own critical mass before the downturn in spending on IT services.

The acquisition target companies ideally have leading competitive positions in regional and vertical
markets, a proven track record of providing Microsoft-based solutions, a booked backlog of project work
for premier clients, managers in place who are capable of leading a regional division for the Company, a
work culture and ethic similar to our own and are owned by consultants who remain active in the business.
While we hired approximately 80 professionals in connection with the transactions with Goliath Networks
in January 2002, our consolidation deals will generally involve hiring 20-50 professionals. We have
generally been able to hire the management and key professionals of these consultancies, while acquiring
only limited amounts of the assets and assuming only limited liabilities of these businesses. We also look
to reduce redundant positions, consolidate facilities and look for other efficiencies throughout the
combined operations. Although these acquisitions are structured to increase our net earnings, acquisitions
are risky and involve many uncertainties. Our transactions may decrease, rather than add to, net earnings.

This growth strategy is creating additional opportunities for IS to extend its service offerings into
new markets quicker than it could through internal development efforts, demonstrate new services to
existing clients and establish a presence as the number one- or two-partner position in each region with
key vendors and strategic alliances such as Microsoft. I1IS is emerging as one of the few Microsoft Gold
Certified Partners focused on mid-market clients with a national footprint.

Company History

We have delivered technology solutions to clients since our founding in 1989 by Jim Garvey. Over the
past thirteen years, the Company has moved from providing services related to micro computing and
client/server technologies to services driven by Internet and Web Services technologies. In 1999, we
opened a development center in Bangalore, India to offer clients application development services with
more competitive pricing. In 2000, we opened several regional offices in the United States, many of which
have since been closed, completed both private and public capital raising transactions and opened an
application management operations facility in Tempe, Arizona. We closed three unprofitable regional
offices in 2001 (and two more in the first quarter of 2002) and began expanding vertical and regional
market presences through acquiring assets and hiring the management and professional staffs of
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like-minded peer consultancies. K2 Digital, a digital services company based in New York City with strong
design experience, was the first of these transactions. We closed three more similar transactions in 2001,
with STEP Technology, based in Portland, Oregon, INTEFLUX, based in Phoenix, Arizona, and Winfield
Allen, based in Denver, Colorado. We expanded in the Midwest region in January 2002 through a series
of transactions with Goliath Networks in Madison, Wisconsin.

Our common stock is traded on Nasdaq National Market under the symbol IISX. In a letter dated
February 14, 2002, Nasdaq notified us that our common stock had not met the minimum bid price per
share or the minimum market value for public float for more than thirty days and would be delisted if
compliance with continued listing requirements cannot be demonstrated by May 15, 2002. We believe that
it is unlikely that our common stock will avoid delisting by trading for more than $1.00 for ten consecutive
trading days before May 15, 2002, and, accordingly, we intend to apply for a transfer of our common stock
to the Nasdaq SmallCap Market. The Nasdaq Marketplace Rules provide for a stay of the delisting
process while a transfer application is under consideration. We cannot assure investors that our common
stock will be accepted for transfer to the Nasdaq SmallCap Market or that, if accepted, will remain in
compliance with the continued listing requirements of the SmallCap Market.

Core Services

We offer three primary categories of services: Business Strategy Services; Application & Network
Integration Services; and Application Cutsourcing Services.

Business Strategy Services

We offer clients access to teams of strategic industry consultants who translate business concepts into
technology plans. Clients utilize our business strategy consultants to assess the business and technology
impact of a solution. The solution must provide significant improvements in operations, revenue, market
share, brand awareness, or usability to make an impact in a client’s business. Once our clients and
consultants have established a technology plan, our design professionals convert the plan into online
interpretations of a client’s image, brand, products, services and offerings. Clients draw on our creative
talent, who are selected for their ability to understand diverse digital capabilities and the optimal blend
of usability, design and marketing. Experts in Financial Services, Transportation, Manufacturing,
Education, Healthcare, Retail, and Tradeshow/Event Services are on staff at IS to help our clients use
technology to complement and enhance their products or services.

Application & Network Integration Services

We have built our reputation as an established custom application developer and systems integrator.
These practices remain among our core strengths. Applications and systems we have designed, developed
and integrated are recognized in the industry for being innovative, cost-effective, secure, reliable and
scaleable. We continue to provide leading edge development and integration in our supply chain, security,
disaster recovery and speech technology service offerings.

Our offshore development operations in Bangalore, India augment our domestic application
development practice and allow us to offer price competitive services for high quality, customized
software applications. We have developed a proprietary integrated offshore development model and have
a successful record of using our model to deliver mission-critical projects on time and under budget.
Because the development environment remains within our Company, we believe that we have avoided
many of the management, overhead and cultural issues which have hampered the results of some offshore
development firms.




Application OQutsourcing Services

We offer application outsourcing services which range from basic application infrastructure solutions
to fully managed applications. We assume full accountability for the entire application infrastructure and
ongoing operations. Our clients benefit from lower technology investments, predictable monthly costs for
application management and operations, reduced payroll expenses, increased speed to market, capacxty
on demand, single-point of accountab1hty and enhanced security.

IiS Expertise

The range of services we offer to chents continues to evolve to meet changing market demands. Our
industry specialists in Financial Services, Transportation, Manufacturing, Health Care, Education, Retail
and Tradeshow/Event Services are viewed as trusted business advisors to their clients. While this helps us
determine how to respond to changing market conditions, it also requires our consultants to demonstrate
an ongoing understanding of clients’ businesses:and the competitive markets our clients face.

We understand that concepts for a client solution are only as good as the experts tasked with
implementing the technology solution. As a result of our project work over thirteen years and the recent
addition of consultancies, we have demonstrated experience in deploying cutting-edge technology
solutions in several arenas, including Supply Chain, Web-Enabled Legacy Systems, Wireless and Speech
Technologies, Security, E-Commerce and Financial Reporting Systems. We are experiencing increasing
client demand for services in Supply Chain, Security and Disaster Recovery, and Microsoft Great Plains
Business Solutions, which are now a part of our National Practice Program. Integrating new offerings into
this program will allow us to commumcate a cohesive message and provide repeatable solut1ons to clients
in other regions. :

Our Supply Chain Integration Services focus on helping clients re-engineer manufacturing processes
and integrate supply chain systems that best suit their needs. We are developing a concentrated practice
that has already successfully delivered solutions with high return on investment for the high-tech
manufacturing, aerospace and consumer goods industries. Our consultants provide services in many key
areas for clients, including supplier process re-engineering, scrap or rework process re-engineering,
web-enabling legacy systems, inventory process improvement and shipping department efficiencies.

The Security and Disaster Recovery Services we offer help clients protect their information and
systems from viruses, security holes, sabotage and network outages. Our offerings were developed by
Goliath Networks and were added to our list of services during the first quarter of 2002. The services assist
clients with developing a corporate security strategy, assessing existing security processes, tools and
procedures, and remedying security exposures. We also provide disaster recovery services by managing
clients’ redundant applications in our data center.

Our Microsoft Great Plains Business Solutions experts have integrated financial software systems for
many clients requiring a mid-market packaged solution. These experts joined us from Winfield Allen
during 2001 and have extensive experience with implementing Microsoft Great Plains Business Solutions
modules in accounting and finance, customer relationship management, e-commerce, human resources,
manufacturing, project accounting and supply chain management.

Key Clients

Over the years, we have worked with business leaders in a variety of industries. This past year, we,
including the professionals in our recently added consultancies, delivered business strategy, application
integration, network integration and outsourcing services to many clients, including Honeywell; Rayovac
Corp.; Partners HealthCare Systems, Inc.; East West Partners Denver, Inc.; Pulse Metrics; Ipswich
Shellfish Company; and Innoveda. :

Sales and Marketing

Historically, our strongest revenue stream has been through the repeat business of key clients. Other
than the new national service offerings, we do not use a national sales force. Each IIS division is
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responsible for generating new business and maintaining existing relationships to increase revenue. Each
division General Manager leads a small direct sales force, which is responsible for direct sales to clients
in that region. The sales force also includes billable senior professionals and consultants to identify
opportunities for repeat business with existing clients. During 2001, project sizes have declined due to
reduced IT budgets for many businesses, resulting in a decline in business levels with existing accounts.
To reduce the impact of this trend, our acquisition strategy has focused on maintaining the acquired
companies’ client relationships to immediately increase the size of our client base. Our strategy is also
designed to ensure that the recently acquired consultancies are able to sell more billable projects to their
existing client base by offering existing IIS capabilities, such as offshore-development capabilities and
supply chain integration in addition to their existing services.

With the acquisition of five consulting firms since August 2001, we quickly expanded our regional and
vertical presence to increase market potential, revenue and cross-sell existing IIS services. The newly
acquired companies continue to use their brand recognition in the markets that they serve and leverage
the national IIS brand when appropriate. Each acquisition provides a unique value proposition to clients,
which, in turn, enables us to increase our overall value to clients in every region.

The acquisition of X2 Digital enhanced our capabilities for the following services:
e Integrated digital professional services;

¢ Strategic consulting, design and development of digital channels; and

e Online quantitative and usability research, and online marketing.

Through STEP Technology, we strengthened our offerings in:

¢ Line-of-business application;

o Custom application development; and

¢ Software developer training curricula.

The INTEFLUX professionals increased our industry experience level in financial services and
brought IIS into the market for transportation and trade show/event services with product offerings
including:

e Strategy consulting;
e Application design and development; and
e Application management and user support.

Through Winfield Allen, we became a Microsoft Great Plains Business Solutions Partner. The
Winfield Allen professionals provide clients with:

e User-interface design;
e Application development;
¢ Systems integration;

¢ Technical e-learning capabilities; and

e Integration of core financial applications.




In January 2002, we gained a Midwest presence by hiring the staff of Goliath Networks. Goliath
provides:

e Comprehensive network and Internet infrastructure solutions;
¢ Internal and external security assessments;
e Internet vulnerability evaluations;
o Intrusion detection systems, firewall integration;
e Business continuity and disaster recovery services;
~© Application development and integration;
e Enterprise network integration; and
¢ Internet infrastructure design and implementation.

We conduct a number of customer satisfaction and loyalty initiatives to ensure that we maintain a
solid relationship with clients. We incorporate client feedback and best practices into service processes
and methodologies. In addition to ongoing quarterly client satisfaction surveys, we have established a
Customer Advisory Board composed of influential clients with extensive experience working with IIS.
This Advisory Board meets on a regular basis to help us design and deliver solutions from a client’s
perspective and provides us with valuable insight into industry trends, technology needs and service
delivery standards. Our Customer Advisory Board is a key component of our strategic planning process
and delivery modeling, and enables us to stay abreast of the rapidly evolving needs of our marketplace.

We also generate new clients through our established vendor partnerships with key technology
leaders such as Microsoft, Intel, Compaq, IBM, Novell, Veritas, MatrixOne, i2, iPlanet and GE Capital.
Our partners provide training, joint selling, and excellent product offerings to help IIS deliver best of
breed solutions to our clients.

In particular, we have an increased focus on strategically aligning ourselves with Microsoft. Over the
years, we have partnered with Microsoft to implement products used by most mid-market businesses.
Through our acquisition strategy, IIS has an established presence as a leading Microsoft partner in the
Southwest, Northeast, Northwest, Rocky Mountain and Midwest regions. Currently, our Midwest
Division is a triple Microsoft Gold Certified Partner in Security Solutions, Enterprise Systems and
E-Commerce Solutions; our New England and Southwest Divisions are dual Microsoft Gold Certified
Partners in Enterprise Systems and E-Commerce Solutions; and our Northwest Division is a Microsoft
Gold Certified Partner in E-Commerce. In addition, IIS Rocky Mountain Region is a Microsoft Great
Plains Business Solutions Partner. ‘

Corporate Culture

QOur culture has been built on a foundation of continuous learning, entrepreneurial spirit and team
commitment. These are values shared by our recent acquisitions. Within all divisions and at all locations,
we encourage and reward entrepreneurial drive and accomplishment. We place high value on continued
education, be it in technology, sales and marketing, and/or customer service.

Competition

The landscape of the IT services market has changed recently and will continue to change. In early
2001, our management team recognized that consolidation in the market was inevitable and by mid-year
was able to participate in gaining key market strongholds through acquisitions. There are now fewer
players in the industry. As long as the business justification remains solid and suitable candidates are
identified, we will continue our acquisition strategy in 2002 to further gain market share, both in regional
and vertical segments. ’ '

Intellectual Property Rights

We have developed proprietary methodologies, tools, processes, and software in connection with
delivering our services. We rely on a combination of trade secret, nondisclosure and other contractual
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agreements, and copyright and trademark laws to protect our proprietary rights. Existing trade secret and
copyright laws afford us only limited protection. We typically enter into confidentiality and non-disclosure
agreements with our employees and generally require that our clients enter into similar agreements.
These agreements are intended to limit access to and distribution of our proprietary information. In
addition, we have entered into non-competition agreements with certain of our key employees. There can
be no assurance that the steps we have taken in this regard will be adequate to deter misappropriation of
our proprietary information or that we will be able to detect unauthorized use and take appropriate steps
to enforce our intellectual property rights.

A portion of our business involves the development of software applications for specific client
engagements. We generally retain ownership of client-specific software, although our clients often retain
co-ownership and limited rights to use the applications, processes, and intellectual property developed in
connection with client engagements. We sometimes enter into agreements with our clients which provide
for sole ownership by our clients of our developments with no or limited rights retained by us to utilize
these developments in other client engagements.

ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

Our headquarters are located in a leased facility in Tempe, Arizona consisting of approximately
65,000 square feet. This lease expires on December 2009. In addition, we have signed leases for ten
facilities under various terms totaling approximately 77,000 square feet for regional office space in
Arizona, Colorado, Massachusetts, New York, Oregon, Wisconsin, London, England and Bangalore,
India. We also have signed leases on two facilities totaling approximately 45,000 square feet that are being
sublet to unrelated parties. We have signed leases on six facilities under various terms totaling 46,000
square feet that the Company is currently seeking to sublet or terminate.

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

- During July and August 2001, four purported class action lawsuits were filed in the United States
District Court for the Southern District of New York against the Company, certain of its current and
former officers and directors (the “Individual Defendants”) and the members of the underwriting
syndicate involved in the Company’s initial public offering (the “Underwriter Defendants”). All four
lawsuits have been transferred to Judge Scheindlin for coordination with more than 300 similar cases. The
suits generally allege that: (1) the Underwriter Defendants allocated shares of the Company’s initial
public offering to their customers in exchange for higher than standard commissions on transactions in
other securities; (2) the Underwriter Defendants allocated shares of the Company’s initial public offering
to their customers in exchange for the customers’ agreement to purchase additional shares of our common
stock in the after-market at pre-determined prices; (3) the Company and the Individual Defendants
violated section 10(b) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and/or section 11 of the Securities Act of
1933; and (4) the Individual Defendants violated section 20 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and/or
section 15 of the Securities Act of 1933. The plaintiffs seek unspecified compensatory damages and other
relief. The Company has sought indemnification from the underwriters of its initial public offering. The
Company believes that the claims against it are unfounded and without merit and intends to vigorously
defend this matter. Judge Scheindlin has adjourned the time to respond to the complaints pending
resolution of major issues in the consolidated cases so the Company has not responded to the complaints.

In December 2001, the Company terminated a lease with MCW Brickyard Commercial, L.LC.
(“MCW?) for new office space at 699 South Mill Avenue in Tempe, Arizona as a result of MCW'’s failure
to deliver the leased premises in a timely manner and filed suit against MCW in Superior Court in
Maricopa County, Arizona to recover damages it incurred in preparing to move to the premises. MCW
filed an answer, denying all liability and alleging that IIS caused delays in delivery of the leased premises.
During March 2002, MCW filed an amended answer and supplemental counterclaim for lost rent, lost
parking income, lost expense income, commissions and unpaid construction costs. MCW also asks for
indemnity for construction costs and its attorneys’ fees and interest. The Company believes that the
counterclaims are without merit, intends vigorously to prosecute its claim against MCW and to defend
against MCW's counterclaim.




In February 2002, the Company filed suit against Oracle Corporation (“Oracle”) in Superior Court
in Maricopa County, Arizona for breach of contract, breach of implied covenant of good faith and fair
dealing, negligent misrepresentation and fraud. The Company has joined Fleet Business Credit, L.L.C.
(“Fleet”) as a necessary party. Based upon representations of Oracle, the Company entered into a lease
schedule for software licenses, a payment plan agreement for payments of approximately $2.6 million and
a related ordering schedule. The payment plan agreement was purportedly assigned to Fleet. Our suit
seeks to recover damages for Oracle’s failure to act as it represented it would or rescission and restoration
of the parties to their respective provisions prior to signing the agreements, asks for consequential and
punitive damages as relief for fraudulent conduct and for declaratory relief that the purported assignment
to Fleet fails because the underlying obligation is void and unenforceable. The Company intends to
prosecute its claim against Oracle vigorously.

Additionally, the Company is, from time to time, party to various legal proceedings arising in the
ordinary course of business. The Company evaluates such claims on a case-by-case basis, and its policy is
to vigorously contest any such claims which it believes are without merit.

ITEM 4. SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS
Not applicable.

Supplemental Item. EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE REGISTRANT

The following table sets forth the names and positions of all of our current executive officers.
Name Age Position

James G. Garvey, Jr. 37 President, Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of the
Board of Directors

William A. Mahan 60 Executive Vice President, Chief Financial Officer, Secretary
and Treasurer

Mark N. Rogers 36 Vice President, General Counsel and Assistant Secretary

James G. Garvey, Jr. — Founded Integrated Information Systems, Inc. in 1989 and has served as our
President, Chief Executive Officer, and Chairman of the Board since inception. Mr. Garvey was graduated
Cum Laude with a degree in Industrial Engineering from Arizona State University and has completed
graduate studies at Arizona State University in computer integrated manufacturing, software develop-
ment and database design. He is professionally certified in Systems Integration by the Institute of
Industrial Engineers and has received certifications from Microsoft, Lotus and Novell. Mr. Garvey serves
on the Dean’s Advisory Counsel for the ASU Engineering College and the Advisory Board for the ASU
Center for Services Marketing. He has also taught Special Topics: Entrepreneurship for the ASU College
of Engineering and Applied Science. In addition, Mr. Garvey is a member of the Information Technology
Services Marketing Association and the Institute for Industrial Engineers. Mr. Garvey was recognized by
the Arizona Software Association as CEQO of the Year in 1999 and by Ernst & Young for Technology/
eBusiness Entrepreneur of the Year in 2000.

William A. Mahan — Mr. Mahan joined our company in November 2001. From June 2001 through
November 2001, Mr. Mahan was a consultant with The Brenner Group in Cupertino, California, where
he was Chief Financial Officer for several of Brenner’s clients in the high-tech emerging growth segment.
From October 1998 through January 2001, Mr. Mahan was the Chief Financial Officer of Semotus
Solutions, Inc. in San Jose, California, and from October 1996 through October 1998, he served as the
Chief Financial Officer of Primecore Funding Corporation. Mr. Mahan began his career in public
accounting with Haskins & Sells (now Deloitte & Touche LLP) in Los Angeles after obtaining his B.S.
in Accounting from Arizona State University. He has held financial and executive positions with two New
York Stock Exchange-listed companies and has also served as Chief Financial Officer of three
AMEX-listed companies, Semotus Solutions, Nichols Institute and Wrather Corporation. Mr. Mahan is a
Certified Public Accountant.




Mark N. Rogers — Mr. Rogers joined our company as General Counsel in December 2001. From
March 1999 through December 2001, Mr. Rogers was the Vice President, General Counsel and Secretary
of Excell Global Services, Inc., a provider of outsourced services to telecommunications companies. From
March 1996 through March 1999, Mr. Rogers was in private practice with Quarles & Brady Streich Lang
LLP, in the firm’s Phoenix, Arizona office, with a practice concentrated in mergers and acquisitions,
corporate finance and securities. Mr. Rogers received his J.D. from the New York University School of
Law in 1992. He received a B.A. in History, Magna Cum Laude, in 1987 from Brown University.

PART I

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT’S COMMON STOCK AND RELATED
STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

Our common stock is traded on the Nasdaq National Market under the symbol “IISX.” The common
stock commenced public trading on March 17, 2000 in connection with our initial public offering. As a
result, high and low market price information is not available for periods prior to the first quarter of fiscal
2000. The following table sets forth the high and low closing sale prices of our common stock, as reported
by the Nasdaq National Market, for the periods indicated:

Market Price

High Low

Fiscal Year 2080

FHISt QUATIET . o v et ettt e et e e e e e $25.88 $20.75
Second QUATTET. . . . ottt ettt e e e $19.13 $ 4.88
Third QUATET o . ottt e $ 9.13 $ 4.63
Fourth QUarter. .. ..ot e e $ 488 $ 0.63
Fiscal Year 2001

FIESt QUATTET .« ot ottt et e e e e e e e e e $ 1.66 $ 0.63
Second UaATtET. . . ottt e e $ 1.45 $ 053
Third QUATIET . . .ttt e e e e e $ 145 $ 0.55
Fourth QUarter . .. ..ottt et e e e e $ 0.96 $ 0.30
Fiscal Year 2802

Fiscal Year 2002 First Quarter (through March 22,2002).................... $ 0.37 $ 0.15

As of March 22, 2002, there were approximately 206 holders of record of our common stock.




PART Iif

ITEM 6. SELECTED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL DATA

The selected consolidated financial data set forth below should be read in conjunction with the
consolidated financial statements and notes thereto and Management’s Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Condition and Results of Operations included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
The selected financial data in this section is not intended to replace the consolidated financial statements.
The balance sheet data as of December 31, 2001 and 2000 and statement of operations data for each of
the three years ended December 31, 2001 have been derived from our audited consolidated financial
statements and the notes thereto included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, which have
been audited by KPMG LLP, independent certified public accountants. The balance sheet data as of
December 31, 1999, 1998 and 1997 and statement of operations data for the years ended 1998 and 1997
are derived from our historical consolidated financial statements not included in this Annual Report on
Form 10-K.

Prior to August 24, 1998, we elected to be taxed as an S corporation under the Internal Revenue
Code. As an S corporation, we were not subject to income taxes. Pro forma net earnings (loss) reflect the
income taxes that would have been recorded had we been subject to income taxes as a C corporation for
all periods assuming an effective tax rate of 40%. Provision for income taxes and net loss for the years
ended December 31, 2001, 2000 and 1999 are actual, as we were a C corporation for these entire periods.

Years Ended December 31,
2001 2000 1999 1998 1997
(In thousands, except per share data)

Statements of Operations Data:

Revenues .........ccovvuiiinvnnnn.. '. ... $31252 $54290 $21205 $ 7,616 $ 5385
Costofrevenues ................cuvnn.. 29,052 34,542 11,347 4,256 3,346
Other charges. ............ ...t 2,162 — — — —
' Grossprofit ......... ... .. ... ... 38 19,748 9,858 3,360 2,039
Operating expenses: ’
Selling and marketing. .................. 5,620 8,278 2918 1,276 510
General and administrative . ............. 29,694 39,279 8,110 3,067 1,334
Asset impairments and restructuring
charges ......... .. ... ool 14,882 — — - —
Total operating expenses ............ 50,196 47.557 11,028 4343 1,844
Income (loss) from operations ............. (50,158)  (27,809) (1,170 983 195
Interest income (expense), net .. ... e 763 2,381 (237 212 (144)
Provision (benefit) for income taxes ........ — — (18 18 —
Net earnings (loss) before preferred
stock dividends .................. (49,395)  (25428) (1,389 (1,213) 51
Cumulative dividend on preferred stock. . ... — — (24 — —
Net earnings (loss) attributable to
common stockholders............. $(49,395) $(25.428) $(1,635) $(1,213) § 51
Pro forma income tax expense ............. n/a n/a n/a — 32
Pro forma net earnings (loss) ............. n/a n/a n/a  $(1213) $ 19
Basic and diluted earnings (loss) per
common Share ............oeeeeennnnn.. $ 271) $ (132) § (15 $ (12) § .01
Weighted average common shares outstanding: ’
BasiC ..o 18,205 19,302 10,828 10,273 10,000
Diluted ... .o 18,205 19,302 10,828 10,273 10,145
Bailance Sheets Data: :
Cash and cash equivalents................. $ 5235 $46541 $ 83 $ 392 $§ 90
Working capital ............... ... .. 293 45,540 662 16 320
Total @ssets. . ......coovvieeeeeein ... 24,379 81,324 12,118 3,495 2,062
Long-term debt and capital lease obligations,
less current installments................. 902 3,909 1,825 1,032 985
Convertible preferred stock................ — — 4,882 — o —
Total stockholders’ equity (deficiency) ...... 11,998 66,150 (704) (56) 180



ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION
AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The following discussion should be read in conjunction with our consolidated financial statements and
related notes and other financial information appearing elsewhere in this Annual Report.

Forward-Looking Statements

The following discussion contains forward-looking statements based on current expectations, and we
assume no obligation to update these statements. Because actual results may differ materially from
expectations, we caution readers not to place undue reliance on these statements. These statements are
based on our estimates, projections, beliefs, and assumptions, and are not guarantees of future
performance. A number of factors could cause future results to differ materially from historical results,
or from results or outcomes currently expected or sought by us. These factors include: a reduced demand
for Internet services; the loss of one or more of our significant clients; an inability to increase our market
share; difficulties in maintaining our technology alliances; and a continued downturn in economic
conditions.

‘These factors and the other matters discussed below under the heading “Factors that May Affect
Future Results and Our Stock Price” may cause future results to differ materially from historical results,
or from results or outcomes we currently expect or seek.

Overview

Since the third quarter of 2000, the market for Information Technology (IT) services has changed
dramatically and the demand has declined significantly. As part of our effort to adjust our structure to
better address a rapidly changing and declining IT services market, we have closed underperforming or
vacant regional offices, reduced staff in remaining offices, recorded material charges related to
underutilized data center facility computer equipment and leasehold improvements and developed and
began implementing an aggressive growth strategy through acquiring like-minded peer consultancies. We
closed four such transactions in 2001, a fifth such transaction during January 2002 and anticipate
additional, similar transactions during the remainder of 2002.

We have operated at a loss for each of the last four years. The losses, combined with the market for
IT services, raise substantial doubt about our ability to continue as a going concern. We are reducing our
operating expenses in order to improve cash flow from operations. Management believes that cash
receipts may be accelerated through accounts receivable-backed financing to support growth opportuni-
ties, support working capital needs and address unanticipated contingencies. Additional needed financing
may not be available on terms favorable to us, if at all. If we are unable to raise additional capital and
significantly reduce operating losses, our business activities may be significantly curtailed.

We derive our revenues primarily from the delivery of professional services. We offer our services to
clients under time and materials contracts or under fixed fee contracts. For time and material projects, we
recognize revenues based on the number of hours worked by consultants at a rate per hour agreed upon
with our clients. We recognize revenues from fixed-price contracts on a percentage-of-completion method
based on project hours worked. The percentage of our revenues from fixed fee contracts was
approximately 14% in 2001, 5% in 2000 and 11% in 1999. We provide our application outsourcing services
for a minimum monthly fee and charge extra fees for services that exceed agreed-upon parameters.
Revenues from these services are recognized as services are provided. Revenues for services rendered are
not recognized until collectibility is reasonably assured.

Our cost of revenues consists primarily of employee compensation and benefits and depreciation of
hosting facility property and equipment. Selling and marketing expenses consist primarily of compensa-
tion and benefits, and the costs of marketing programs. General and administrative expenses consist
primarily of compensation and benefits for our executive management and our finance, administration,
information technology, and human resources personnel. General and administrative expenses also’
include research and development expense, depreciation, bad debt expense and operating expenses such
as rent, insurance, telephones, office supplies, travel, outside professional services, training, and facilities
costs.
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We have historically derived and believe that we will continue to derive a significant portion of our
revenues from a limited number of clients who may change from year to year. Any cancellation, deferral,
or significant reduction in work performed for our principal clients could harm our business and cause our
operating results to fluctuate significantly from period to period. As a result of our investments in
infrastructure and increase in operating expenses, we incurred a net loss in each of the last four years. Qur
quarterly revenue, cost of revenues, and operating results have varied in the past due to fluctuations in
the utilization of project personnel and are likely to vary significantly in the future. Therefore, we believe
that period-to-period comparisons of our operating results may not necessarily be meaningful and should
not be relied upon as indications of future performance.

Recent Acguisitions

As part of our effort to adjust our structure to better address a rapidly changing and declining IT
services market, we developed and began implementing an aggressive growth strategy through acquiring
like-minded peer consultancies. The acquisition target companies ideally have leading competitive
positions in regional and vertical markets, a proven track record of providing Microsoft-based solutions,
a booked backlog of project work for premier clients, managers in place who are capable of leading a
regional division for the Company, a working culture and ethic similar to our own and are owned by
consultants who remain active in the business. We closed four such transactions in 2001, a fifth such
transaction during January 2002 and anticipate additional, similar transactions throughout 2002.

On August 20, 2001, we completed a series of transactions with K2 Digital, Inc. (“K2”), a publicly
held digital services firm based in New York City. In that transaction, we hired 24 management and
consulting employees of K2, acquired certain related fixed assets and assumed certain of the leased office
space of K2 in New York City. The transactions were pald for with cash and the assumption of certain
operating expenses of K2.

On September 28, 2001, we completed a similar series of transactions with STEP Technology, Inc.
(“STEP”), a Portland, Oregon-based information technology consulting firm. In that transaction, we hired
54 management and consulting personnel of STEP, acquired certain related assets and assumed a portion
of STEP’s office space in Portland. The transaction was paid for with cash and the assumption of certain
operating expenses of STEP.

On October 31, 2001, we completed a similar series of transactions with INTEFLUX, Inc.
(“INTEFLUX”), a Phoenix, Arizona-based information technology consultancy with international
operations in London, England. In that transaction, we hired 19 management and consulting personnel of
INTEFLUX, acquired certain related assets and assumed the leased office space of INTEFLUX in
Phoenix and London. The transaction was paid for with a combination of cash and restricted shares of our
common stock, as well as the assumption of certain operating expenses of INTEFLUX.

On November 16, 2001, we completed a similar series of transactions with Winfield Allen, Inc.
(“Winfield Allen”), a Denver, Colorado-based information technology consultancy. In that transaction,
we hired 24 management and consulting personnel of Winfield Allen, acquired certain related assets, and
assumed the leased office space of Winfield Allen. The transaction was paid for with a combination of
cash, a promissory note and restricted shares of our common stock, as well as the assumption of certain
expenses of Winfield Allen.

In a subsequent event, on January 25, 2002, we completed a series of transactions to hire the
executive management and key professional staff and acquire certain related assets of Goliath Networks,
Inc. (“Goliath™), a Madison, Wisconsin-based information consulting and services firm. In that transac-
tion, we hired 81 management and consulting personnel of Goliath, acquired certain related assets, and
assumed the leased office space of Goliath in Madison and Milwaukee, Wisconsin. The transaction was
paid for with a combination of cash and assumption of a promissory note.

Critical Accoumnting Policies and Estimates

. The Company’s discussion and analysis of its financial condition and results of operations are based
upon the Company’s consolidated financial statements, which have been prepared in accordance with
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accounting principles generally accepted in the United States. The preparation of these financial
statements requires the Company to make estimates and judgments that affect the reported amounts of
assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses, and related disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities. On an
on-going basis, the Company evaluates its estimates, including those related to long-term service
contracts, bad debts, intangible assets, income taxes, restructuring, and contingencies and litigation. The
Company bases its estimates on historical experience and on varicus other assumptions that are believed
to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis for making judgments about
the carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results
may differ from these estimates under different assumptions or conditions.

The Company believes the following critical accounting policies affect its more significant judgments
and estimates used in the preparation of its consolidated financial statements. The Company recognizes
revenue and profit as work progresses on long-term, fixed price contracts using the percentage-of-
completion method, which relies on estimates of total expected contract revenue and costs. The Company
follows this method because reasonably dependable estimates of the revenue and costs applicable to
various stages of a contract can be made. Recognized revenues and profit are subject to revisions as the
contract progresses to completion. Revisions in profit estimates are charged to income in the period in
which the facts that give rise to the revision become known. The Company maintains allowances for
doubtful accounts for estimated losses resulting from the inability of its customers to make required
payments. If the financial condition of the Company’s customers were to deteriorate, resulting in an
impairment of their ability to make payments, additional allowances may be required. The Company
recorded goodwill and other intangible assets from acquisitions during 2001. The Company reviews the
acquired businesses on a periodic basis to determine that projected cash flows are deemed adequate to
support the value of goodwill and other intangible assets. Future adverse changes in market conditions or
poor operating results could result in an inability to recover the carrying value of the investments that may
not be reflected in the current carrying value of the intangible assets, thereby possibly requiring an
impairment charge in the future. The Company records a valuation allowance to reduce its deferred tax
assets to the amount that is more likely than not to be realized. In the event the Company were to
determine that it would be able to realize its deferred tax assets in the future in excess of its net recorded
amount, an adjustment to the deferred tax asset would increase income in the period such determination
was made. The Company records accruals for the estimated future cash expenditures required from
closing its vacated offices. The accruals include estimates of future rent payments and settlements until the
obligation is canceled. Should actual cash expenditures differ from the Company’s estimates, revisions to
the estimated liability for closing vacated offices would be required. The Company evaluates the
requirement for future cash expenditures resulting from its contingencies and litigation. The Company
records an accrual for contingencies and litigation when exposures can be reasonably estimated and are
considered probable. Should the actual results differ from the Company’s estimates, revisions to the
estimated liability for contingencies and litigation would be required.
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Results of Operations

The following table sets forth selected financial data for the periods indicated expressed as a
percentage of revenues:

Years Ended December 31,

) 2001 2000 1999
Revenues.........o o 100.0% 100.0% 100.0%
Cost Of TEVENUES. . ...t i i 93.0 63.6 535
. Other charges .. ..o vt e 69 = =
GI0SS Profit . .o e 01 364 465
Operatihg expenses:
Selling and marketing ........ L R 18.0 152 13.8
General and administrative ......... R R R T TR 95.0 72.4 38.2
Asset impairments and restructuring charges ................ _47.6 = =
Total operating eXpenses. .. .......oovuiiiiniinniennnnnnn. 160.6 876 520
Loss from Operations. . ... .......ueueeerreeeeeneeennnnn. (160.5) 51.2) (5.5)
Interest income (expense), Net...........ooveeiinniieeeennnn.. 24 44 _(1.1)
Netloss .......coovvvnnn... F PP P (158.1)% (46.8)% _(6.6)%

|
|

Year Ended December 31, 2001 Compared to Year Ended December 31, 2000

Revenues. Revenues decreased 42% to $31.3 million in 2001 from $54.3 million in 2000. Revenues
from our largest customer decreased to $6.7 million compared to $13.2 million in 2000. Declines in both
billed hours and new engagements resulted in decreases totaling approximately $17.3 million in 2001
compared to 2000. Declines in average hourly bill rates resulted in decreases of approximately $3.0 million
in revenues in 2001 compared to 2000. We believe that these declines in revenue reflect general weakening
in our industry sector, which we expect to continue into 2002. During 2001, we did not record $2.7 million
of revenue in connection with services provided to customers where collection was not deemed probable.

Cost of Revenues. Cost of revenues decreased 16% to $29.1 million in 2001 from $34.5 million in
2000. As a percentage of revenue, cost of revenues were 93.0% in 2001 compared to 63.6% in 2000,
primarily due to lower utilization rates for project personnel in 2001 compared to 2000 and increased costs
attributable to application outsourcing services.

Other Charges, During 2001, we recorded a $2.2 million non-cash charge due to the impairment of
inventoried software licenses.

Selling and Marketing Expenses. Selling and marketing expenses decreased 33% to $5.6 million in
2001 from $8.3 million in 2000. Approximately $2.1 million of the decrease in selling and marketing
expenses in 2001 was due to reduced advertising and promotional expenses. In addition, approximately
$0.6 million was attributable to the reduction of dedicated sales and marketing personnel in 2001
compared to 2000. As a percentage of revenues, selling and marketing expenses increased to 18.0% of
revenue in 2001 from 15.2% in 2000 primarily as a result of the reduction in revenue.

General and Administrative Expenses. General and administrative expenses decreased 24% to
$29.7 million in 2001 from $39.3 million in 2000. The decrease in general and administrative expenses in
2001 compared to 2000 was attributable to approximately $10.9 million in reduced bad debt expense,
approximately $1.9 million in reduced depreciation expense, and approximately $0.7 million in reduced
leased equipment costs as compared to 2000. These decreases were partially offset by an approximately
$2.1 million increase in professional fees and litigation settlements, $1.8 million increase in office rent
expenses as a result of our regional office expansion, and an approximately $0.4 million increase in
telecommunication costs. As a percentage of revenues, general and administrative expenses increased to
95.0% of revenue in 2001 from 72.4% in 2000 primarily as a result of the reduction in revenue.
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Asset Impairments and Restructuring Charges. During 2001, we recorded a $9.2 million impairment
charge related to underutilized data center facility computer equipment and leasehold improvements and
a $5.7 million charge for expenses incurred in connection with closing and consolidating six office
locations.

Interest Income, Net. Interest income, net of interest expense decreased to $0.8 million in 2001
compared to $2.4 million in 2000. The decrease in 2001 was due primarily to the use during 2001 of the
previously invested proceeds from both our preferred stock financing in January 2000 and our initial
public offering in March and April 2000.

Year Ended December 31, 2000 Compared to Year Ended December 31, 1999

Revenues. Revenues increased 156% to $54.3 million in 2000 from $21.2 million in 1999. The
increase in revenues reflects increases in the size and number of client engagements involving more
complex internet applications, increases in the average rate per hour charged for services and an increase
in revenues from our largest customer. New engagements contributed approximately $16 million of the
increase in revenues for the year. Our 29% increase in average hourly rates accounted for approximately
$9 million of the increase. Revenues from our largest customer were $13.2 million in 2000, compared to
$7.5 million in 1999.

Cost of Revenues. Cost of revenues increased 205% to $34.5 million in 2000 from $11.3 million in
1999. This increase was due primarily to an increase in project personnel from 252 at December 31, 1999
to 376 at December 31, 2000. Approximately $5.0 million of this increase was attributable to cost of
revenues from application outsourcing services, including the cost of personnel and depreciation. As a
percentage of revenues, cost of revenues increased to 63.6% in 2000 from 53.6% in 1999, primarily due to
the addition of cost of revenues from application outsourcing services in 2000.

Selling and Marketing Expenses. Selling and marketing expenses increased 186% to $8.3 million in
2000 from $2.9 million in 1999. Of this increase, approximately $3.8 million was attributable to the
addition of personne! in the sales and marketing departments in 2000. In addition, approximately
$1.6 million of the increase in selling and marketing expenses in 2000 was due to increased advertising and
promotional expenses. As a percentage of revenues, selling and marketing expenses increased to 15.2%
in 2000 from 13.8% in 1999.

General and Administrative Expenses. General and administrative expenses increased 385% to
$39.3 million in 2000 from $8.1 million in 1999. Of the increase, approximately $11.8 million was due to
additional bad debt expense, approximately $6.0 million was due to additional depreciation expense,
approximately $3.0 million was due to additional rent expense, and approximately $3.0 million was
attributable to additional compensation and benefits. The balance of the increase was related to increases
in other expenses such as training, insurance, travel, telecommunications and office administration
expenses. As a percentage of revenues, general and administrative costs increased to 72.4% in 2000 from
38.2% in 1999. :

Of the $11.8 million in bad debt expense incurred in 2000, approximately $7.4 million is attributable
to development stage and dot-com clients that have not been able to pay as a result of the slow-down in
funding for start up ventures in 2000. The remaining $4.4 million in bad debt expense is attributable to
disputes with clients. We are currently in arbitration with certain of these clients to resolve these disputes.

Interest Income, Net. Interest income, net of interest expenses increased to $2.4 million in 2000
compared to net interest expense of $0.2 million in 1999. The increase in 2000 was due primarily to
interest income earned on the invested portion of proceeds from both our preferred stock financing in
January 2000 and our initial public offering in March and April 2000.

Quarterly Results of Operations

The following table sets forth a summary of our unaudited quarterly operating results for each of the
eight quarters ended December 31, 2001, and the percentage of our revenues represented by each item
in the respective quarters. This data has been derived from our unaudited interim financial statements
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which, in our opinion, have been prepared on substantially the same basis as the audited consolidated
financial statements contained elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K and include all normal
recurring adjustments necessary for a fair presentation of the financial information for the periods
presented. These unaudited quarterly results should be read in conjunction with our audited consolidated
financial statements and notes thereto included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. The
operating results in any quarter are not necessarily indicative of the results that may be expected for a full
year or in any future period.

Quarters Ended

Dec. 31, Sept. 30, June 30, Mar. 31, Dec. 31, Sept 30, June 3¢, Mar. 31,
2001 2001 2001 2001 2000 C 2000 2000 2000

(In thousands)

Statement of Operations Data:

Revenues . ................. $ 5988 $6172 $§ 8655 $10437 $11.119 $17,336  $15381  $10.454
Costof revenues . . . .......... 5278 5.814 8,649 9,311 9,883 10,362 8,782 5,515
Other charges . .. ............ — — 2,162 — — — — —

Gross profit (loss) . .. ...... 710 358 (2,156) 1,126 1,236 6,974 6,599 4,939

Operating expenses: .
Selling and marketing. . . ... .. 1,277 1,408 1,484 1,451 1,495 1,828 2,722 2,233

General and administrative . . . . 6,156 7,881 7,379 8,278 16,664 9,571 7912 5132
Asset impairments and

“““ | restructuring charges. . . ... ... 5,691 47 9,144 — — — — —
‘ Total operating expenses . . . . 13,124 9,336 18,007 9,729 18,159 11,399 10,634 7,365
Loss from operations. . .. ...... (12414)  (8978)  (20.163) (8.603)  (16,923) (4,425) (4,035) (2,426)
Interest income (expense), net . . . (38) 207 210 384 666 738 818 159

Loss before income tax
benefit ... (12,452)  (8,771) (19,953) (8,219)  (16,257) (3,687) (3,217) (2,267)
Income tax benefit. . ... .... ... — — — — — — — .~
Netloss................ $(12,452) $(8.771) $(19,953) $(8219) $(16,257) $(3,687) $(3217) $(2,267)

As a Percentage of Revenues:

Revenues . . ................ 100.0%  100.0% 100.0%  100.0% 100.0%  100.0%  100.0%  100.0%
Cost of revenues . . . .......... 88.1 942 99.9 89.2 88.9 59.8 571 52.8
Other charges............... — — 25.0 — — — — —
Gross profit (loss) . . ....... 119 5.8 (24.9) 10.8 111 40.2 429 472
Operating expenses:
Selling and marketing ......... 21.3 228 17.1 13.9 13.4 10.5 17.7 21.4
General and administrative. . . . . . 102.8 127.7 853 79.3 149.9 55.2 514 49.1
Asset impairments and
restructuring charges. . . ... ... 95.1 .8 105.7 — — — — —
Total operating expenses . . . . 219.2 151.3 208.1 93.2 163.3 65.7 69.1 70.5
Loss from operations. . ... ..... (207.3)  (145.5) (233.0) (82.4) (152.2) (25.5) (26.2) (23.2)
Interest income (expense), net . . . (.6) 34 2.4 3.7 6.0 43 5.3 1.5
Loss before income tax
benefit ............... (207.9) (142.1) (230.3) (78.7) (146.2) . (21.2) (20.9) 21.7)
Income tax benefit. . . ...... ... — — — —_ — — — —
Netloss................ 207.9% (142.1)% (2305)% (78.7)% (146.2)% (212)% (209)% (21.7)%

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Since inception, we have funded our operations and investments in property and equipment through
cash generated from operations, capital lease financing arrangements, bank borrowings, and equity
financings. In January 2000, we raised $20.2 million, before expenses of $800,000, through a private
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placement of Series C preferred stock to institutional and other accredited investors. In March and
April 2000, we raised an additional $67.5 million (net of underwriting discounts and other offering
expenses) through our initial public offering of 4,945,000 shares of our common stock.

At December 31, 2001, we had approximately $5.2 million in cash and cash equivalents and
$0.3 million in working capital, as compared to $46.5 million and $45.5 million at December 31, 2000,

Net cash used in operating activities for the years ended December 31, 2001, 2000, and 1999 was
$23.8 million, $19.9 million, and $2.3 million, respectively. Cash used in operating activities in each of
these periods was the result of net losses, adjusted for non-cash items related to depreciation,
amortization and asset impairment, and fluctuations in receivables, unbilled and deferred revenues on
contracts, prepaid expenses and other current assets, and accounts payable and accrued expenses.

Net cash used in investing activities for the years ended December 31, 2001, 2000, and 1999 was
$6.9 million, $16.9 million, and $2.3 million, respectively. Cash used in investing activities in each period
consisted primarily of purchases of computer equipment, furniture and leasehold improvements. During
2001 we invested in acquisitions of assets of other companies totaling $2.8 million. During 2000 we
invested approximately $7.0 million, net of leased furniture and equipment, in our apphcatlon outsourcing
services data center. We also invested in geographical expansion during 2000.

For 2001, net cash used in financing activities was $10.6 million, compared to net cash provided by
financing activities for the years ended December 31, 2000 and 1999 of $82.5 million and $5.1 million,
respectively. During 2001, we repurchased 4,951,800 shares of our common stock for approximately
$5.3 million. Our net repayments of capital lease obligations totaled approximately $4.4 million for the
same period. We also allocated $3.5 million to restricted cash of which $2.4 million was used during 2001.

Non-cash investing and financing activities for the years ended December 31, 2001, 2000, and 1999
consisted of new capital lease obligations for property and equipment of $0.2 million, $9.3 million and
$1.9 million, respectively. In addition, as a result of our acquisitions during 2001, we assumed capital lease
obligations totaling $0.2 million and issued common stock totaling $0.3 million.

As of December 31, 2001, we had a master lease agreement to finance up to $3.0 million of computer
equipment with Comerica Leasing Corporation, as sucessor to Imperial Bank. The master lease
agreement has an implied interest rate of approximately 10.5%. As of December 31, 2001, approximately
$1.0 million was outstanding under this master lease agreement. The master lease agreement expires on
various dates through June 2002. In June 2001, the Company deposited $1.0 million into a restricted
certificate of deposit account. The funds in this account serve as collateral against various letters of credit
totaling $1.0 million. During 2001, $0.3 million of the funds were drawn down to pay current and future
lease obligations.

A summary of our contractual cash obligations at December 31, 2001 follows (amounts in thousands):

Capital lease obligations, Operating Total contractual

including interest leases cash obligations
2002, ... $3,433 $ 5,762 $ 9,195
2003 ... 629 4,554 5.183
2004 ... 316 3,633 3,949
2005. ... 21 2,984 3,005
2006 ... — 1,889 1,889
Thereafter............... — 2,893 2,893
$4,399 $21,715 $26,114

The Company operates in a highly competitive market. The information technology services industry
has experienced rapid growth followed by rapid and significant contraction over a relatively short
economic cycle. The Company’s rapid growth phase required significant investments in infrastructure,
facilities, computer and office equipment, human resources and working capital in order to meet
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perceived demand. Since the third quarter of 2000, the market for our services has changed and declined
significantly. We incurred negative cash flows from operations for each of the three years ended
December 31, 2001. These factors, among other things, raise substantial doubt about our ability to
continue as a going concern. '

Management is pursuing various options in order to provide necessary financing. Management S plans
to resolve near term cash flow issues include the following:

o Restructuring the terms and payments of facility and equipment leases;

°© Negotiating a new line of credit through accounts receivable backed financing; -
e A private placement of equity financing; and '
o Projected improvement of operating results.

The projected improvement of operating results includes closing unprofitable offices that could not
become profitable in the near term, reducing staff in remaining offices and recording expenses and charges
associated with impairments on assets and idle facilities. Management continues to reduce operating
expenses and believes that the actions taken will improve cash ﬂow from operations.

Management believes if it can finalize the financing alternatives that it'is pursuing, together with its
projected improvement in operating results for 2002, the Company will generate sufficient resources to
ensure uninterrupted performance of its operating obligations. The Company’s continuance as a going
concern is dependent upon its ability to generate sufficient cash flow to meet its obligations in a timely
manner, to obtain additional financing as required and ultimately to attain profitability. There can be no
assurance, however, that these sources will be available to the Company on acceptable terms or when
necessary, or that the Company will be successful in its efforts to improve its operating results.

Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements

In-June 2001, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued Statement of Financial
Accounting Standard No. 141, Business Combinations (SFAS 141), and Statement of Financial Account-
ing Standard No. 142, Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets (SFAS 142). SFAS 141 became effective for
us as of July 1, 2001. It establishes new standards for accounting and reporting requirements for business
combinations and requires the purchase method of accounting be used for all business combinations
initiated after June 30, 2001. SFAS 142 became effective for us on January 1, 2002 and requires, among
other things, the cessation of the amortization of goodwill. In addition, the standard includes provisions
for the reassessment of the useful lives of existing recognized intangibles, a new method of measuring
reported goodwill for impairment and the identification of reporting units for purposes of assessing
potential future impairments of goodwill. SFAS 142 also requires us to complete a tran31t10nal goodwill
impairment test on or before June 30, 2002.

We have recorded $3.2 million of goodwill relating to the four acquisitions completed after the
effective date of SFAS 141, and there has been no amortization expense recorded in the accompanying
financial statements. We are in the process of evaluating the impact of the provisions of SFAS 142,
including any impairment resulting from the transition tests.

In August 2001, the FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standard No. 143, Accounting
for Asset Retirement Obligations (SFAS 143), which addresses financial accounting and reporting for
obligations associated with the retirement of tangible long-lived assets and for the associated asset
retirement costs. SFAS 143 requires an enterprise to record the fair value of an asset retirement obligation
as a liability in the period in which it incurs a legal obligation associated with the retirement of tangible
long-lived assets that result from the acquisition, construction, development and/or normal use of the
assets. The enterprise also is to record a corresponding increase to the carrying amount of the related
long-lived assets and to depreciate that cost over the life of the asset. The liability is changed at the end
of each period to reflect the passage of time (i.e., accretion expense) and changes in the estimated future
cash flows underlying the initial fair value measurement. We are required to adopt SFAS 143 in 2003, and
we believe its adoption will not have a material effect on our consolidated financial statements.
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In August 2001, the FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standard No. 144, Accounting
for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets (SFAS 144) that addresses financial accounting and
reporting for the impairment or disposal of long-lived assets, including discontinued operations. While
SFAS 144 supercedes Statement of Financial Accounting Standard No. 121, Accounting for the
Impairment of Long-Lived Assets and for Long-Lived Assets to Be Disposed Of, it retains many of the
fundamental provisions of that Statement. SFAS 144 also supersedes certain provisions of ABP Opinion
No. 30, Reporting the Results of Operations—Reporting the Effects of Disposal of a Segment of a Business,
and Extraordinary, Unusual and Infrequently Occurring Events and Transactions, for the disposal of a
segment of a business. The provisions of SFAS 144 will be etfective for us in 2002 and are to be applied
prospectively. We do not believe the adoption of SFAS 144 will have a material impact on our
consolidated financial statements.

Factors that May Affect Future Results and Qur Stock Price

This Annual Report on Form 10-K includes forward-looking statements within the meaning of
Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933 and Section 21E of the Securities Act of 1934. Forward-looking
statements give our current expectations or forecasts of future events. Words such as “expect,” “may,”
“anticipate,” “i estimate,” “should,” and similar expressions
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intend,” “would,” “will,” “plan,” “believe,
identify forward-looking statements. Forward-looking statements in this Form 10-K include express or
implied statements concerning our future revenues, expenditures, capital or other funding requirements,
the adequacy of our current cash and working capital balances to fund our present and planned operations
and financing needs, expansion of and demand for our service offerings, and the growth of our business
and operations, as well as future economic and other conditions both generally and in our specific
geographic and product and services markets. These statements are based on our estimates, projections,
beliefs, and assumptions and are not guarantees of future performance. From time to time, we also may
provide oral or written forward-looking statements in other materials we release to the public.

We caution that the following important factors, among others, could cause our actual results to differ
materially from those expressed in forward-looking statements made by or on behalf of us in filings with
the Securities and Exchange Commission, press releases, communications with investors, and oral
statements. Any of these factors, among others, could also negatively impact our operating results and
financial condition and cause the trading price of our common stock to decline or fluctuate significantly.
We undertake no obligation to publicly update any forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new
information, future events or otherwise. You are advised, however, to consult any further disclosures we
make in our reports filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission and in future public statements
and press releases.

We have experienced operating losses and may incur operating losses in future periods, which could cause
the price of our common stock to decline further.

We had a net loss of approximately $49.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2001, a net loss
of $25.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2000 and a net loss of approximately $1.4 million for the
year ended December 31, 1999. We expect to continue to incur losses in 2002. If we do not achieve
revenue growth, we could experience operating losses greater than already anticipated or for periods after
2002. These losses or any fluctuation in our operating results could cause the market value of our common
stock to decline further.

If we are unable to maintain a Nasdagq National Market listing or transfer to Nasdaq SmallCap Market
listing, our common stock may become even more illiquid and the value of our securities may decline
further. ‘ ‘

We received a letter, dated February 14, 2002, from The Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc., notifying us of
our fajlure to meet Nasdaq’s minimum market value of publicly held shares and minimum bid price
requirements. If we do not comply with Nasdaq’s listing requirements by May 15, 2002, our common stock
will be delisted from the Nasdaq National Market. We may apply for transfer of our common stock listing
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to the Nasdaq SmallCap Market. To transfer, we would need to satisfy the continued listing requirements
for the Nasdaq SmallCap Market, which makes available an extended grace period for the minimum $1.00
per share bid price requirement. At the present time, we do not meet these continued listing
requirements. '

If we submit a transfer application and pay the applicable listing fees to Nasdaq by May 15, 2002,
initiation of delisting proceedings will be stayed pending Nasdaq’s review of our transfer application. If
the transfer application is approved, we will be probably be afforded a 180 calendar day grace period
within which we must meet the Nasdaq SmallCap Market’s continued listing requirements, including the
$1.00 per share bid price requirement. This grace period would end on August 13, 2002. We may also be
eligible for an additional 180 calendar day grace period if we maintain net tangible assets in excess of
$4.0 million.

If we continue to fail to meet the Nasdaq National Market’s listing requirements and our transfer
application is not approved, Nasdaq will delist our common stock. If this occurs, our common stock will
likely trade in the over-the-counter market in the so-called “pink sheets” maintained by Pink Sheets LLC
or on the National Association of Securities Dealers’ OTC Bulletin Board. Such alternative trading
markets are generally considered less liquid and efficient than Nasdaq, and although trading in our stock
is already relatively thin and sporadic, the liquidity of our common stock would probably decline further
because smaller quantities of shares would likely be bought and sold, transactions could be delayed and
securities analysts’ and news media coverage of IIS would diminish. These factors could result in lower
prices and larger spreads in the bid and ask prices for our common stock. Reduced liquidity may reduce
the value of our common stock and our ability to generate additional funding.

We may need additional capital which, if not available to us, may alter our business plan or-limit our
ability to achieve growth in revenues and which, if available and raised, would dilute your cwnership
interest in ws.

We incurred negative cash flows from operations in 2001 and continue to do so in 2002. Although we
believe that we have sufficient cash to fund existing operations for the balance of the year, we are pursuing
sources of working capital. We may need to raise additional funds through public or private equity or debt
financings in order to:

o address working capital needs if collection of accounts receivable declines;
o take ‘advantage of acquisition or expansion opportunities;

o develop new services; or

o address unanticipated contingencies.

Cur inability to obtain financing on terms acceptable to us, or at all, may limit our ability to increase
revenues or to achieve profitability. Our stock price, like the stock price of many competitors in our
industry, has been depressed in recent periods, which could limit our ability to obtain any needed
financing on favorable or acceptable terms. In addition, if we are able to raise additional capital through
the sale of equity securities or through taking on debt with an equity component, your investment in us
would be diluted, which could cause our stock price to further decline.

We anticipate acquiring more businesses, and we may imcur increased operating expemses without
correspending increased revenues, which may limit our ability to achieve or maintain profitability and
cause the price of our common stock to decline.

A key component of our business strategy is to acquire like-minded peer consultancies in geographic
areas where we do not have a strong presence. We also look for acquisition opportunities, without
focusing on increasing our geographic diversity, if there is an opportunity to strengthen a current service
offering or add a service offering which complements our current service offerings. In past years, we have
tried to achieve profitability by increasing revenues delivered from regional.offices. Many of the regional
offices were not profitable, and we have closed five regional offices and consolidated others as a result.
Our acquisitions often involve some of the same risks as opening offices in new markets. If we are not
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more successful in integrating the operations of acquired businesses than we were with opening regional
offices, we may not be able to operate profitably. The risks of acquisitions include retaining clients,
retaining key employees, incurring higher than anticipated transaction expenses and other unexpected
expenses and diverting management’s attention from daily operations of our business. Acquiring
businesses, especially in markets in which we have limited prior experience, is risky. If we do not
implement this strategy successfully, we may incur increased operating expenses without increased
revenues, which could materially harm our operating results and stock price.

We rely on a small number of clients for most of our revenues and our revenues will decline significantly
if we camnot retain or replace, or if we experience collection problems from, these cliemts.

We derive, and expect to continue to derive, a significant portion of our revenues from a limited
number of clients. Two customers, American Express and NCS Pearson, accounted for 22% and 12%,
respectively, of our revenue during 2001, and two customers, American Express and PartsAmerica.com,
Inc., accounted for 24% and 10%, respectively, of our revenue during 2000.

Virtually all of our client contracts may be canceled by the client after a short notice period and
without economic penalty. Clients remain responsible to us for fees we earn through the date of contract
termination unless a valid offset exists. Revenues from specific clients are likely to vary from period to
period. A major client in one year may not use our services in a subsequent year. Our two largest clients
in 2001 were not our largest clients in the fourth quarter of 2001, and each will likely represent a smaller
percentage of our 2002 revenues. Revenue from American Express will likely decline both overall and as
a percentage of revenue as a result of its decision to outsource daily management of many of its IT
functions to another, larger vendor. The loss of a large client or project in any period could result in a
decline in our revenues and profitability from period to period and cause significant and sudden declines
or fluctuations in the market value of our common stock. In addition, because a large portion of our
receivables relate to a limited number of clients and large projects, write-offs attributable to one or a few
of these clients or projects could exceed our allowance for doubtful accounts and significantly harm our
operating results.

Because the market for our services may not grow during 2002, we may be unable to become profitable.

We offer services in the IT services market, and that market contracted in 2001. We do not anticipate
significant growth in the IT services market in 2002. During 2000, in anticipation of a continued increase
in demand for consulting and application outsourcing services, we made substantial infrastructure
investment to support the anticipated demand. That demand did not materialize, and, during 2001, we
took a $9.2 million charge for underutilized data center facility computer equipment and leasehold
improvements and a $5.7 million charge for the expenses we incurred in closing and consolidating six
office locations. If demand for our services does not grow in the future, or if we do not capture sufficient
market share for these services, we may continue to be burdened with a larger than necessary
infrastructure and may be unable to achieve profitability.

We may incur expenditures relating to closed office leases which are greater than what we have
amnticipated, which would require us to expend limited financial reserves amd adversely impact our
liquidity.

We have accrued approximately $2.1 million for future cash expenditures relating to five closed
regional offices and the consolidation of other offices. The actual future expenditures related to these
closed and consolidated offices may be greater than our accrual, and, in that event, the additional
expenses will reduce earnings and cash in future periods. Any such reduction will adversely impact our
liquidity, operating results and common stock price.

QOur resnlts of operations may vary from quarter to quarter in future periods and, as a result, we may not
meet the expectations of our investors and analysts, which could cause our stock price to fluctnate or
decline.

Our revenues and results of operations have fluctuated significantly in the past and could fluctuate
significantly in the future. We incurred net losses of $8.2 million, $20.0 million, $8.8 million and
$12.5 million in the first, second, third, and fourth quarters of 2001, respectively.
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Our results may fluctuate due to the factors described in this Form 10-K, as well as:
e the loss of or failure to replace any significant clients;

o variation in demand for our services;

o higher than expected bad debt write-offs;

o changes in the mix of services that we offer; and

° variation in our operating expenses.

A substantial portion of our operating expense is related to personnel costs and overhead, which
cannot be adjusted quickly and is, therefore, relatively fixed in the short term. Our operating expenses are
based, in significant part, on our expectations of future revenues. If actual revenues are below our
expectations, we may not achieve our anticipated operating results. Moreover, it is possible that in some
future periods our results of operations may be below the expectations of analysts and investors. In this
event, the market price of our common stock is likely to decline.

If we fail to keep pace with the rapid techmological changes that characterize our industry, our
competitivemess would suffer, causing us to lose projects or cliemts and comseguently reducing our
revenues and the price of our common stock.

Our market and the enabling technologies used by our clients are characterized by rapid, frequent,
and significant technological changes. If we fail to respond in a timely or cost-effective way to these
technological developments, we may not be able to meet the demands of our clients, which would affect
our ability to generate revenues and achieve profitability. We have derived, and expect to continue to
derive, a large portion of our revenues from creating solutions that are based upon today’s leading and
developing technologies and which are capable of adapting to future technologies. Qur historical results
of operations may not reflect our new service offerings and may not give you an accurate indication of our
ability to adapt to these future technologies.

QOur failure to meet client expectations or deliver error-free services could damage our reputation and
harm our ability to compete for new business or retain our existing clients, which may lmit our ability to
generate revenues and achieve or maintain profitability.

Many of our engagements involve the delivery of information technology services that are critical to
our clients’ businesses. Any defects or errors in these services or failure to meet clients’ specifications or
expectations could result in:

o delayed or lost revenues due to adverse client reaction;

e requirements to provide additional services to a client at no or a limited charge;
o refunds of fees for failure to meet obligations;

e negative publicity about us and our services; and

e claims for substantial damages against us.

In addition, we sometimes implement critical functions for high profile clients or for projects that
have high visibility and widespread usage in the marketplace. If these functions experience difficulties,
whether or not as a result of errors in our services, our name could be associated with these difficulties
and our reputation could be damaged, which would harm our business.

We may lose money on fixed-price contracts because we may fail to accurately estimate at the beginning
of projects the time and resources required to fulfill our obligations under our contracts; the additional
expenditures that we must make to fulfill these contract ebligations may cause our profitability to decline
or prevent us from achieving profitability and could reduce the price of our common stock.

Although we provide consulting services primarily on a time and materials compensation basis,
approximately 14% of our consulting revenue was derived from fixed-price, fixed-time engagements in
2001, and approximately 5% of revenues were derived from fixed-price, fixed-time engagements in 2000.
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The percentage of our revenues derived from fixed-price, fixed time engagements may increase in the
future, as influenced by changes in demand and market conditions. Our failure to accurately estimate the
resources required for a fixed-price, fixed-time engagement or our failure to complete our contractual
obligations in a manner consistent with our projections or contractual commitments could harm our
overall profitability and our business. From time to time, we have been required to commit unanticipated
additional resources to complete some fixed-price, fixed-time engagements, resulting in losses on these
engagements. We believe that we may experience similar situations in the future. In addition, we may
negotiate a fixed price for some projects before the design specifications are finalized, resulting in a fixed
price that is too low and causing a decline in our operating results.

Ouwr lack of long-term contracts with clients and our clients’ ability to terminate contracts with little or no
notice reduces the predictability of our revenues and increases the potential volatility of our stock price.

Our clients generally retain us on an engagement-by-engagement basis, rather than under long-term
contracts. In addition, our current clients can generally reduce the scope of or cancel their use of our
services without penalty and with little or no notice. As a result, our revenues are difficult to predict.
Because we incur costs based on our expectations of future revenues, our failure to predict our revenues
accurately may cause our expenses to exceed our revenues, which could cause us to incur increased
operating losses. Although we try to design and build complete integrated information systems for our
clients, we are sometimes retained to design and build discrete segments of the overall system on an
engagement-by-engagement basis. Since the projects of our large clients can involve multiple engage-
ments or stages, there is a risk that a client may choose not to retain us for additional stages of a project
or that the client will cancel or delay additional planned projects. These cancellations or delays could
result from factors related or unrelated to our work product or the progress of the project, including
changing client objectives or strategies, as well as general business or financial considerations of the client.
If a client defers, modifies, or cancels an engagement or chooses not to retain us for additional phases of
a project, we may not be able to rapidly re-deploy our employees to other engagements and may suffer
underutilization of employees and the resulting harm to our operating results. Qur operating expenses are
relatively fixed and cannot be reduced on short notice to compensate for unanticipated variations in the
number or size of engagements in progress. The slowing in spending on business and IT consulting
initiatives that began in the second half of 2000 continues, and if current or potential clients cancel or
delay their IT initiatives, our business and results of operations could be materially adversely affected.

We may not be successfu] in retzining our current technology alliances or emtering into new aliiances,
which could hamper our ability to market or deliver solutions needed or desired by our clients and limit
our ability to increase or sustain our revenues and achieve or maintain profitability.

We rely on vendor alliances for client referral and marketing opportunities, access to advanced
technology and training as well as other important benefits. These relationships are non-exclusive and the
vendors are free to enter into similar or more favorable relationships with our competitors. Whether
written or oral, many of the agreements underlying our relationships are general in nature, do not legally
bind the parties to transact business with each other or to provide specific client referrals, cross-marketing
opportunities, or other intended benefits to each other, have indefinite terms, and may be ended at the will
of either party. We may not be able to maintain our existing strategic relationships and may fail to enter
into new relationships. If we are unable to maintain these relationships, the benefits that we derive from
these relationships, including the receipt of important sales leads, cross-marketing opportunities, access to
emerging technology training and certifications, and other benefits, may be lost. Consequently, we may
not be able to offer desired solutions to clients, which would result in a loss of revenues and our inability
to effectively compete for clients seeking emerging or leading technologies offered by these vendors.

Because we operate in a highly competitive and rapidly changing industry, competitors could cause us to
lose business oppeortunities and lmit our ability to increase or sustain revenue levels.

Although our industry experienced significant consolidation in 2001, the business areas in which we
compete remain intensely competitive and subject to rapid change. We expect competition to continue
and to intensify. Our competitors currently fall into several categories and include a range of entities
providing both general management and information technology consulting services and internet services.
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Many of our competitors have longer operating histories, larger client bases, and greater brand or name
recognition, as well as greater financial, technical, marketing, and public relations resources. Qur
competitors may be able to respond more quickly to technological developments and changes in clients’
needs. Further, as a result of the low barriers to entry, we may face additional competition from new
entrants into our markets. We do not own any technologies that preclude or inhibit competitors from
entering the general business areas in which we compete. Existing or future competitors may indepen-
dently develop and patent or copyright technologies that are superior or substantially similar to our
technologies, which may place us at a competitive disadvantage. All of these factors could lead to
competitors winning new client engagements that we compete for. If this occurs, our ability to generate
increased revenues may be limited and we may not achieve profitability.

We may not be able to protect our imtellectual property rights and, as a result, we could lose competitive
advantages which differentiate our solutions and our ability to attract and retain clients.

Our success is dependent, in part, upon our intellectual property rights. We rely upon a combination
of trade secret, confidentiality and nondisclosure agreements, and other contractual arrangements, as well
as copyright and trademark laws to protect our proprietary rights. We have no patents or pending patent
applications. We enter into confidentiality agreements with our employees, we generally require that our
consultants and clients enter into these agreements, and we attempt to limit access to and distribution of
our proprietary information. Nevertheless, we may be unable to deter misappropriation of our
proprietary information or to detect unauthorized use and take appropriate steps to enforce our
intellectual property rights or proprietary information.

We attempt to retain significant ownership or rights to use our internally developed software
applications which we can market and adapt through further customization for other client projects.
Under some of our client contracts, all of our project developments are the property of the client and we
have no right or only limited rights to reuse or provide these developments in other client projects. To the
extent that we are unable to negotiate contracts which permit us to reuse code and methodologies, or to
the extent that we have conflicts with our clients regarding our ability to do so, we may be unable to
provide services to some of our clients within price and timeframes acceptable to these clients.

Although we believe that our services, trade or service names, and products do not infringe upon the
intellectual property rights of others, claims could be asserted against us in the future. If asserted, we may
be unable to successfully defend these claims, which could cause us to cease providing some services or
products and limit any competitive advantage we derive from our trademarks or names.

If any of these events occur, our ability to differentiate ourselves and compete effectively could be
limited and we may lose revenue opportunities.

We occasionally agree not to perform services for our clients’ competitors, which may limit our ahuﬂn&y to
generate future revenues and inhibit our business strategy.

In order to secure particularly large engagements or engagements with industry leading clients, we
have agreed on limited occasions not to perform services, or not to utilize some of our intellectual
property rights developed for clients, for competitors of those clients for limited periods of time ranging
from one to three years. In our agreement with American Express, our largest client in 2001 and 2000, we
have agreed not to perform services for competitors of American Express for one year after each project
completion date and not to assign consultants who have worked on American Express projects to other
clients’ competitive projects for nine months after completing work for American Express. These
non-compete provisions reduce the number of our prospective clients and our potential sources of
revenue. These agreements also may limit our ability to execute a part of our business strategy of
leveraging our business expertise in discreet industry segments by attracting multiple clients competing in
those industries. In addition, these agreements increase the significance of our client selection process
because some of our clients compete in markets where only a limited number of companies gain
meaningful market share. If we agree not to perform services or to utilize intellectual property rights for
a particular client’s competitors or competitive projects, we are unlikely to receive significant future
revenues in that particular market.
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Our lomg sales cycles make our revemues difficult to predict, which could cause our revenues or
proefitability to be below analyst or investor expectations, causing our stock price to fluctuate and decline
significamtly. :

The timing of our revenues is difficult to predict because of the length and variance of the time
required to complete a sale. Our sales cycle typically ranges in length from three months to nine months
and is sometimes longer. Prior to retaining us for a project, our clients often undertake an extensive review
of their systems, needs, and budgets and may require approval at various levels within their organization.
The length or unpredictability of our sales cycle could cause our revenues or profitability to be below the
expectations of analysts or investors and our stock price to fluctuate significantly.

If we are unable to successfully position and sell our application outsourcing services, we may be unable
to recover our imvestment in providing these services, reducing cur profitability and the price of our
common stock.

Our ability to increase revenues and profitability depends in part on the adoption and acceptance of
third-party application hosting services by our clients. During 2001 we were not successful in selling these
services in volume, and we recorded a $9.2 million charge for underutilized data center facility computer
equipment and leasehold improvements. If we do not generate sufficient revenues from these services, our
operating results and stock price would continue to be negatively affected.

Some of our clients have little or no operating history and may lack the resources to pay our fees, which
could cause us to incur losses om these accounts.

We derive a portion of our revenues from companies with limited operating histories and limited
resources to pay our fees. We generally request retainers or deposits from clients who appear to have
inadequate credit, but some of these clients may fail and may be unable to pay for our services in a timely
manner, or at all. This would reduce our cash flow, making it difficult to carry on our business without
additional funds, and could lead to the inefficient allocation of our professional and other resources.

The loss of Mr. James G. Garvey, Jr., our founder, Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer, may
harm our ability to obtain and retain client engagements, maintain 8 cohesive culture, or compete
effectively.

Our success will depend in large part upon the continued services of James G. Garvey, Jr., our
founder, Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer. We have an employment contract with Mr.
Garvey. Mr. Garvey is precluded under his agreement from competing against us for one year should he
leave us. The loss of Mr. Garvey’s services could harm us and cause a loss of investor confidence in our
business, which could cause the trading price of our stock to decline. In addition, if Mr. Garvey resigns to
join a competitor or to form a competing company, the loss of Mr. Garvey and any resulting loss of
existing or potential clients to any competitor could harm our business. If we lose Mr. Garvey, we may be
unable to prevent the unauthorized disclosure or use by other companies of our technical knowledge,
practices, or procedures. In addition, due to the substantial number of shares of our common stock owned
by Mr. Garvey, the loss of Mr. Garvey’s services could cause investor or analyst concern that Mr. Garvey
may sell a large portion of his shares, which could cause a rapid and substantial decline in the trading price
of our common stock.

The sale of a substantial number of shares of our common stock im the public market could adversely
affect their market price, negatively impacting your investmenmnt.

There are a substantial number of shares of our common stock potentially available for sale in the
public market. The sale of a substantial number of shares in the public market could depress the market
price of our common stock and could impair our ability to raise capital through the sale of additional
equity securities.
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The holdings of Mr. Garvey may limit your ability ¢¢ influence the cutcome of director elections and other
matters subject to a stockholder vote, including a sale of our company on terms that may be atiractive (o
YOl ’ o

James G. Garvey, Jr., our founder, Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer, currently owns
approximately 64% of our outstanding common stock. Mr. Garvey’s stock ownership and management
positions enable him to exert considerable influence over our company, including in the election of
directors and the approval of other actions submitted to our stockholders. In addition, without the consent
of Mr. Garvey, we may be prevented from entering into transactions that could be viewed as beneficial to
other stockholders, including a sale of the company. This could prevent you from selling your stock to a
potential acquirer at prices that exceed the market price of our stock, or could cause the market price of
our common stock to decline.

Our charter documents could make it more difficult for a third party to acquire us, which could limit your
ability to sell your stock to am acquirer at a premium price or could cause our stock price to decline.

Our certificate of incorporation and by-laws may make it difficult for a third party to acquire control
of us, even if a change in control would be beneficial to stockholders. Our certificate of incorporation
authorizes our board of directors to issue up to 5,000,000 shares of “blank check” preferred stock. Without
stockholder approval, the board of directors has the authority to attach special rights, including voting and
dividend rights, to this preferred stock. With these rights, preferred stockholders could make it more
difficult for a third party to acquire our company.

Our by-laws do not permit any person other than at least three members of our board of directors,
our President, the Chairman of the Board, or holders of at least a majority of our stock to call special
meetings of the stockholders. In addition, a stockholder’s proposal for an annual meeting must be received
within a specified period in order to be placed on the agenda. Because stockholders have limited power
to call meetings and are subject to timing requirements in submitting stockholder proposals for
consideration at meetings, any third-party takeover or other matter that stockholders wish to vote on that
is not supported by the board of directors could be subject to significant delays and difficulties.

If a third party finds it more difficult to acquire us because of these provisions, you may not be able
to sell your stock at a premium price that may have been offered by the acquirer, and the trading price
of our stock may be lower than it otherwise would be if these provisions were not in effect.

The valunation model for companies such as ours has changed, and our inability to achieve profitability
may continue to materially adversely affect our stock price.

When our stock became publicly traded in 2000, companies in our sector were valued generally upon
revenue growth, with little regard for profitability. Companies in our sector are now generally measured
on cash flows and profits. If we are unable to achieve profitability and positive cash flow, our stock price
will continue to suffer and could further decline, and the liquidity for our stock could deteriorate further
as well.

Qur stock repurchase plan may adversely affect the trading volume and lquidity of our common stock
and could cause our stock price to decline.

In December 2000, our board authorized a stock repurchase plan which authorized us to purchase up
to $2 million of our common stock on the open market in compliance with applicable SEC regulations.
In August 2001, our board authorized an increase in the maximum amount from $2 million to $7 million.
During 2001, we repurchased 4,951,800 shares of our common stock at a cost of approximately
$5.3 million. We currently have no plan to repurchase additional shares of our common stock. However,
if we do repurchase more shares of our common stock under this plan, the number of shares of our
common stock outstanding will decrease. This decrease would likely reduce the trading volume of our
common stock, adversely impacting the liquidity and value of our common stock.

25




ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

To date, we have not utilized derivative financial instruments or derivative commodity instruments.
We do not expect to employ these or other strategies to hedge market risk in 2002. We invest our cash in
money market funds, which are subject to minimal credit and market risk. We believe that the market
risks associated with these financial instruments are immaterial.

All of our revenues are realized currently in U.S. dollars and are from customers primarily in the
United States. Therefore, we do not believe that we currently have any significant direct foreign currency
exchange rate risk.
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- INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

The Board of Directors
Integrated Information Systems, Inc.:

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Integrated Information Systems, Inc.
and subsidiary as of December 31, 2001 and 2000, and the related consolidated statements of operations,
stockholders’ equity (deficiency), and cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended
December 31, 2001. These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s
management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based
on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States
of America. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance
about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining,
on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also
includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well
as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable
basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material
respects, the financial position of Integrated Information Systems, Inc. and subsidiary as of December 31,
2001 and 2000, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the years in the
three-year period ended December 31, 2001, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted
in the United States of America.

The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared assuming that the Company will
continue as a going concern. As discussed in note 1 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company
has suffered negative cash flows from operations and has an accumulated deficit, that raise substantial
doubt about their ability to continue as a going concern. Management’s plans in regard to these matters
are also described in note 1. The consolidated financial statements do not include any adjustments that
might result from the outcome of this uncertainty.

As discussed in note 19 to the consolidated financial statements, effective July 1, 2001, the Company
adopted the provisions of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) No. 141, “Business
Combinations,” and certain provisions of SFAS No. 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets,” as
required for goodwill and intangible assets resulting from business combinations consummated after
June 30, 2001.

/st KPMG LLP

Phoenix, Arizona
February 15, 2002
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INTEGRATED INFORMATION SYSTEMS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARY
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

{In thousands, except share amounts)

December 31,

2001 __ 2000
ASSETS

Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents .............. ... .. ... ... $ 5,235 $ 46,541
Restrictedcash ................ e et e, 1,125 —_
Accounts receivable, net (notes 4 and 20). .................. 4,688 6,572
Income tax receivable (note 11) ...................... . ..., — 111
Unbilled revenues on contracts (note 5) .................... 174 472
Prepaid expenses and other current assets .................. 550 3,109
Total current assets . ... e 11,772 56,805
Property and equipment, net (notes 6, 7and 9)................ 8,018 23,647
Goodwill (note 15). . ... vt 3,187 —
Other assets (note 15) . ..o e 1,402 872
$ 24,379 $ 81,324

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Current liabilities:

Accounts payable and accrued expenses .................... ‘ $ 7,476 $ 6,494
Current installments of capital lease obligations (note 9)...... 3,253 4,322
Deferred revenues on contracts (note 5).................... 750 449
Total current lHabilities. . .......... i 11,479 11,265
Capital lease obligations, less current installments (note 9). ... 902 3,909
Total liabilities. .. ..ot 12,381 15,174

Commitments, contingencies and subsequent
event (notes 1, 7, 10, 14, 15 and 18)
Stockholders’ equity (notes 12, 13, 14 and 15):
Common stock, $.001 par value; authorized 100,000,000
shares; issued and outstanding 16,550,688 and 20,683,922

shares at December 31, 2001 and 2000, respectively ........ 16 21
Additional paid-in capital . ............ .. e 94,154 93,613
Accumulated deficit. ............o i (76,836) (27,441)
Accumulated other comprehensive loss..................... (54) (43)

17,280 66,150

Treasury stock, at cost, 4,951,800 shares at December 31, 2001. .. (5,282) —
Total stockholders” equity..........cooviiiiniiiann.. 11,998 66,150

$ 24379 $ 81,324

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

(In thousands, except per share amounts)

Years Ended December 31,

= _200 2000 159
Revenues (note 17)......ovvvvvviiiinnnnvann, $ 31,252 $ 54,290 $21,205
B Costof revenues ........ccovviivnnnnnnnnn. 29,052 34,542 11,347
Other charges (note 7). ..., 2,162 — —
Grossprofit. . ... i 38 19,748 9,858
Operating expenses: »
Selling and marketing...................... 5,620 8,278 2,918
General and administrative ................. ) 29,694 39,279 8,110
Asset impairments and restructuring charges
(MOtE 7)o e e e 14,882 — —
Total operating eXpenses ................. 50,196 47,557 11,028
Loss from operations .................... (50,158) (27,809) (1,170)
Interestincome ........... ..o, 1,390 3,197 —
Interest expense (notes 8 and 9)............... (627) (816) (237)
Loss before income taxes................. (49,395) (25,428) (1,407)
Benefit for income taxes (note 11)............. — — (18)
Net loss before preferred stock dividends. . . (49,395) (25,428) (1,389)
Cumulative dividend on preferred stock........ — — (246)
Net loss attributable to common
stockholders ............... .. ... ... $(49,395) $(25,428) $(1,635)
Loss per share (note 16):
Basicand diluted............ ... ... .. ... $ (2.71) $ (1.32) $ (15)
Weighted average common shares outstanding . . 18,205 19,302 10,828

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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CONSQLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY (DEFICIENCY)

(In thousands, except share amounts)

Accumulated Total
Common Stock Additional Other Stockholders’
Paid-in ~ Accumulated Comprehensive Treasury Equity
Shares  Amount  Capital Deficit Loss Stock  (Deficiency)
Balances, December 31, 1998 . .. 10,524,000  $11 $ 557 $ (624) § — $ — $ (59
Issuance of common stock, net 373,750 — 711 — —_— —_ 711
Exercise of stock options. . . . . 4,475 — 5 — — — 5
Compensation expense . ... .. 10,800 — 22 — — — 22
Exercise of warrants . . ... ... — — 3 — — — 3
Netloss................. — = — ©(1,389) i — (1,389)
Balances, December 31, 1999 . .. 10,913,025 11 1,298 (2,013) - — (704)

Issuance of common stock
upon conversion of preferred
stock . ... L. 4,538,170 5 24,288 — — C— 24,293

Issuance of common stock

pursuant to IPO, net of costs : .

of $6,659,000. . ... e 4,945,000 5 67,511 — —_ ‘ — 67,516
Issuance of common stock '

under Employee Stock

Purchase Plan . . . .. e 155,102 — 246 — — — 246
Exercise of stock options. . . . . 115,625 — 236 — — — 236
Exercise of warrants . .. ..... 17,000 — 34 — —_ — 34

Comprehensive loss:
Currency translation

adjustments. . ......... — — — — (43) — (43)
Netloss ............... — B _— (25.428) i -— (25,428)
Total comprehensive loss . . . — - — — — — (25,471)

Balances, December 31, 2000 . . . 20,683,922 21 93,613 (27,441) (43) . — 66,150

Issuance of common stock in
connection with acquisitions .
(mote 15) .. ....... ... .. 507,108 — 365 — — — 365

Issuance of common stock
under Employee Stock

Purchase Plan........... 191,458 — 103 B — — 103

."Exercise of stock options. . . .. 120,000 — 73 L — — L
Purchase of common stock, at :

COSt v vt (4,951,800) (5) — — — (5,282) (5.287)

Comprehensive loss:
Currency translation

adjustments . .. ........ — — — — 11) — 1y
Netloss ............... - = — (49,395) = — (49,393)
Total comprehensive loss . . . — — — — — — (49,406)
Balances, December 31, 2601 . . . 16,550,688 $16 $94,154 $(76.,836) $(54) $(5,282) $ 11,998

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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INTEGRATED INFORMATION SYSTEMS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARY
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(In thousands)

Years Ended December 31,
2001 2060 1999

Cash flows from operating activities:
Netloss ....ooovv i, $(49,3953) $(25,428) $(1,389)
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash
used in operating activities:

Depreciation and amortization ............ 7,830 6,895 749
Non-recurring and other charges .......... 17,044 — —
Increase in allowance for doubtful accounts. 36 6,081 598
Change in assets and liabilities, net of
acquisitions:
Accounts receivable .............. .. ... 2,058 (8,671) (3,187)
Income tax receivable.................... : 111 428 (539)
Unbilled revenues on contracts............ 502 213 (90)
Prepaid expenses and other assets ......... 387 (2,255) (1,468)
Accounts payable and accrued expenses. . .. (2,501) 2,791 2,638
Deferred revenues on contracts ........... 127 53 368
Net cash used in operating activities . .. (23,801) (19,893) (2,320)
Cash flows from investing activities:
Capital expenditures................oonnnn. (4,072) (16,885) (2,327)
ACqUISIEIONS .. ..o vt (2,785) — —
Net cash used in investing activities. . . . (6,857) (16,885) (2,327)
Cash flows from financing activities:
Restricted cash................. ... ... ... (1,125) — —
Net borrowings (repayments) on lines of
credit oot — (1,015) 15
Borrowings under long-term debt............ — — 1,152
Repayments of debt ....................... 9) (885) (893)
Repayments of capital lease obligations . ..... (4,390) (3,044) (754)
Issuance of redeemable convertible preferred
SLOCK. . — 19,411 4,882
Proceeds of initial public offering, net of
EXPEIISES .« vttt et — 67,516 —
Issuance of common stock and exercise of
stock options. . ........... ... ... ... . 176 516 716
Repurchase of common stock . .............. (5,287) — —
Net cash provided by (used in)
financing activities . ................ (10,637) 82,499 5,118
Effect of exchange rate oncash ............... (11) (43) —
Increase (decrease) in cash and cash
equivalents ......... ... .. (41,306) 45,678 471
Cash and cash equivalents, at beginning of year . 46,541 863 392
Cash and cash equivalents, at end of year ...... $ 5235 $ 46,541 § 863

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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INFEGRATED INFORMATION SYSTEMS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARY
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(1) Nature of Business

Integrated Information Systems, Inc. (“IIS”) and its wholly owned subsidiary (collectively, the
“Company”) provides information technology related professional services to businesses seeking to
utilize technology to strengthen relationships with customers and business partners. IIS was incorporated
in the State of Arizona on January 9, 1989. On January 7, 2000, IIS reincorporated into the State of
Delaware by merging IIS, an Arizona corporation (Arizona IIS), into IS, a Delaware corporation
(Delaware IIS), a wholly owned subsidiary of Arizona IIS, with Delaware IIS surviving the merger. Each
share of Arizona IIS common stock was exchanged for one share of Delaware IIS common stock, and
each share of Arizona IIS preferred stock was exchanged for one share of Delaware IIS preferred stock.
All shares of stock are subject to the same terms, conditions, and restrictions, if any, as existed
immediately prior to the merger and all rights, liabilities and obligations of Arizona IS were assumed by
Delaware 1IIS.

The Company operates in a highly competitive market. The information technology services industry
has experienced rapid growth followed by rapid and significant contraction over a relatively short
economic cycle. The Company’s rapid growth phase required significant investments in infrastructure,
facilities, computer and office equipment, human resources and working capital in order to meet
perceived demand. Since the third quarter of 2000, the market for the Company’s services has changed
and declined significantly.

The Company’s consolidated financial statements are prepared using accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America applicable to a going concern, which contemplate the realization
of assets and satisfaction of liabilities in the normal course of business. The Company incurred negative
cash flows from operations for each of the three years ended December 31, 2001 and has an accumulated
deficit of $76,836,000 through December 31, 2001. Management responded to these changes by closing
offices that were not profitable, reducing staff in remaining offices and recording expenses and charges
associated with impairments on assets and idle facilities. The Company continues to reduce operating
expenses in order to improve cash flow from operations. Management believes that cash receipts may be
accelerated through accounts receivable-backed financing to support growth opportunities, support
working capital needs and address unanticipated contingencies. Additional needed financing may not be
available on terms favorable to us, if at all. If we are unable to raise additional capital and significantly
reduce operating losses, our business activities may be significantly curtailed. The consolidated financial
statements do not include any adjustments that might result from the outcome of this uncertainty.

{2) Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(@) Use of Estimates

The preparation of these financial statements in accordance with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States requires the Company to make estimates and judgments that affect the
reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses, and related disclosure of contingent -assets
and liabilities. On an on-going basis, the Company evaluates its estimates, including those related to
long-term service contracts, bad debts, intangible assets, income taxes, restructuring, and contingencies
and litigation. The Company bases its estimates on historical experience and on various other assumptions
that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis for making
judgments about the carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other
sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates under different assumptions or conditions.

The Company believes the following critical accounting policies affect its more significant judgments
and estimates used in the preparation of its consolidated financial statements. The Company recognizes
revenue and profit as work progresses on long-term, fixed price contracts using the percentage-of-
completion method, which relies on estimates of total expected contract revenue and costs. The Company
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follows this method since reasonably dependable estimates of the revenue and costs applicable to various
stages of a contract can be made. Recognized revenues and profit are subject to revisions as the contract
progresses to completion. Revisions in profit estimates are charged to income in the period in which the
facts that give rise to the revision become known. The Company maintains allowances for doubtful
accounts for estimated losses resulting from the inability of its customers to make required payments. If
the financial condition of the Company’s customers were to deteriorate, resulting in an impairment of
their ability to make payments, additional allowances may be required. The Company recorded goodwill
and other intangible assets from acquisitions during 2001. The Company reviews the acquired businesses
on a periodic basis to determine that projected cash flows are deemed adequate to support the value of
goodwill and other intangible assets. Future adverse changes in market conditions or poor operating
results could result in an inability to recover the carrying value of the investments that may not be
reflected in the current carrying value of the intangible assets, thereby possibly requiring an impairment
charge in the future. The Company records a valuation allowance to reduce its deferred tax assets to the
amount that is more likely than not to be realized. In the event the Company were to determine that it
would be able to realize its deferred tax assets in the future in excess of its net recorded amount, an
adjustment to the deferred tax asset would increase income in the period such determination was made.
The Company records accruals for the estimated future cash expenditures required from closing its
vacated offices. The accruals include estimates of future rent payments and settlements until the
obligation is canceled. Should actual cash expenditures differ from the Company’s estimates, revisions to
the estimated liability for closing vacated offices would be required. The Company evaluates the
requirement for future cash expenditures resulting from its contingencies and litigation. The Company
records an accrual for contingencies and litigation when exposures can be reasonably estimated and are
considered probable. Should the actual results differ from the Company’s estimates, revisions to the
estimated liability for contingencies and litigation would be required. ‘

(b) Principles of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Integrated Information Systems, Inc.
and its wholly owned subsidiary, Emeric Systems Private Limited. All significant mtercompany accounts
and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.

(¢) Cash Equivalents

The Company considers all highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less
to be cash equivalents.

(d) Property and Equipment

. Property and equipment are stated at cost, net of accumulated amortization and depreciation.
Depreciation is computed using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the related
assets, which range from three to seven years. Assets acquired under capital lease obligations and
leasehold improvements are amortized over the lesser of the estimated useful lives of the assets or the
lease terms.

{e) Goodwill

Goodwill represents the excess of purchase price over fair value of net assets acquired. The Company
assesses the recoverability of this intangible asset by determining whether the goodwill balance can be
recovered through undiscounted future operating cash flows of the acquired operation. The amount of
goodwill impairment, if any, is measured based on projected discounted future operating cash flows using
a discount rate reflecting the Company’s average cost of funds. The assessment of the recoverability of
goodwill will be impacted if estimated future operating cash flows are not achieved.
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() Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

The Company accounts for long-lived assets in accordance with the provisions of Statement of
Financial Accounting Standard No. 121, “Accounting for the Impairment of Long-Lived Assets and for
Long-Lived Assets to Be Disposed Of” (SFAS 121). This Statement requires that long-lived assets and
certain identifiable intangibles be reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable. Recoverability of assets to be held
and used is measured by a comparison of the carrying amount of an asset to future net cash flows expected
to be generated by the asset. If such assets are considered to be impaired, the impairment to be recognized
is measured by the amount by which the carrying amount of the assets exceeds the fair value of the assets.
Assets to be disposed of are reported at the lower of the carrying amount or fair value less costs to sell.

(g) Revenue Recognition

Revenues for time-and-material contracts are recognized as the services are rendered. Revenues
pursuant to fixed fee contracts are generally recognized as services are rendered using the percentage-
of-completion method of accounting (based on the ratio of labor hours incurred to total estimated labor
hours). Revenues from maintenance or post-contract support agreements are recognized as earned over
the terms of the agreements. Revenues from recurring services such as application outsourcing operations
are recognized as services are provided each month. '

Provisions for estimated losses on uncompleted contracts are made on a contract-by-contract basis
and are recognized in the period in which such losses are determined. Unbilled revenues on contracts are
comprised of earnings on certain contracts in excess of contractual billings on such contracts Billings in
excess of earnings are classified as deferred revenues on contracts.

(h) Concentration of Credit Risk

Financial instruments which potentially subject the Company to a concentration of credit risk consist
primarily of accounts receivable. The Company performs ongoing credit evaluations of its customers and
generally does not require collateral on accounts receivable. The Company maintains allowances for
potential credit losses, and such losses have generally been within management’s expectations. The
Company’s customers operate in many industry segments and are headquartered primarily in the United
States of America.

(3 Stock Option Plan

The Company has elected to follow Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 25, Accounting for
Stock Issued to Employees (APB 25) and related interpretations in accounting for its employee stock
options and to adopt the “disclosure only” alternative treatment under Statement of Financial Accounting
Standards No. 123, Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation (SFAS 123). APB 25 requires no
recognition of compensation expense for broad-based employee stock purchase and option plans such as
the plans provided by the Company, where the exercise price is equal to the market value at the date of
grant. However, under SFAS 123, deferred compensation is recorded for the excess of the fair value of the
stock, on the date of the option grant, over the exercise price of the option. The deferred compensation
is amortized over the vesting period of the option.

(j) Research and Development Costs

Research and development expenditures are charged to operations as incurred. Expenditures for the
years ended December 31, 2001, 2000, and 1999 were $25,000, $77,000, and $49,000, respectively and are
included in general and administrative expenses.
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(k) Advertising Costs

Advertising costs are expensed as incurred. Advertising expense was $1,121,000, $2,722,000, and
$1,172,000 for the years ended December 31, 2001, 2000, and 1999, respectively.

(1) Income Taxes

Income taxes are accounted for under the asset and liability method. Deferred tax assets and
liabilities are recognized for the future tax consequences attributable to differences between the financial
statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax bases and operating
loss and tax credit carryforwards. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted tax rates
expected to apply to taxable income in the years in which those temporary differences are expected to be
recovered or settled. The effect on deferred tax assets and liabilities of a change in tax rates is recognized
in income in the period that includes the enactment date.

(m) Fair Value of Financial Instruments

Fair value estimates are made at a specific point in time and are based on relevant market
information and information about the financial instrument; they are subjective in nature and involve
uncertainties and matters of judgment and, therefore, cannot be determined with precision. These
estimates do not reflect any premium or discount that could result from offering for sale at one time the
Company’s entire holdings of a particular instrument. Changes in assumptions could significantly affect
these estimates. Since the fair value is estimated as of December 31, 2001, the amounts that will actually
be realized, or paid at settlement or maturity of the instruments, could be significantly different.

The carrying amounts of accounts receivable, accounts payable and accrued expenses are assumed to
be the fair values because of the liquidity or short-term maturity of these instruments.

{n) Reclassifications

Certain reclassifications have been made to the prior years’ consolidated financial statement amounts
to conform to the current year presentation.

(3} Restricted Cash

During 2000, the Company signed a lease commitment for a new 71,000 square foot headquarters
facility in Tempe, Arizona. In March and May 2001, the Company deposited a total of $2,500,000 into a
construction escrow account. The funds in this account are being used to fund the build-out of tenant
improvements at the new facility. Through December 31, 2001, $2,091,000 of the restricted cash was used
toward these tenant improvements. In December 2001, in accordance with provisions of this lease, the
Company terminated its lease for this facility based on construction delays. See note 7 and 18. No
additional amounts are expected to be spent from the escrow account and the Company is currently
attempting to recover costs invested in this facility.

In June 2001, the Company deposited $1,000,000 into a restricted certificate of deposit account. The
funds in this account serve as collateral against various letters of credit totaling $1,000,000. Through
December 2001, $300,000 was used in connection with the Company’s closure of excess office space. See
note 7.
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(4) Accounts Receivable

Accounts receivable consist of the following (amounts in thousands):

December 31,
: 2001 2000
Trade accounts receivable . ........................ $11,518 $13,366
Less: allowance for doubtful accounts............... : (6,830) (6,794)
$ 4,688 $ 6,572

(5) Unbilled and Deferred Revenues on Comtracts

Unbilled revenues on contracts are comprised of costs, plus earnings on certain contracts, based on
the percentage-of-completion method, in excess of contractual billings on such contracts. These amounts
are billed after year-end and are expected to be collected within 90 days. Billings in excess of costs plus
earnings are classified as deferred revenues.

Information with respect to contracts in progress at December 31, 2001 and 2000 follows (amounts

in thousands):
Years Ended December 31,

2001 2000
Classified on the balance sheet as follows:
Unbilled revenues on contracts .................... $174 $ 472
Deferred revenues on contracts .................... $(750) ‘ $(449)

{6} Property and Equipment

A summary of property and equipment at December 31, 2001 and 2000, follows (amounts in
thousands):

December 31,

2001 2000
Computer eqUIPMENt . ...ttt ittt $ 8,926 $13,294
Computer and telephone equipment under capital leases ............ 8,803 12,005
Furniture and fIXtUTES . .. ...ttt e et 3,271 3,031
Office equipment ...l e 754 538
Leasehold iImprovements ... ...t i 1,961 3,103
23,715 31,971
Less: accumulated depreciation and amortization . .................. 15,697 8,324
Property and equipment, DEt. ...t $ 8,018 $23,647

{7) Asset Impairmemnts, Restructuring and Other Charges

During 2001, the Company recorded asset impairments and restructuring charges totaling $14,882,000.
These charges were attributable to a $9,191,000 charge related to underutilized computer equipment and
leasehold improvements at the Company’s data center used for application outsourcing services and a
$5,691,000 charge for expenses incurred in connection with the closing and consolidating of six office
locations and abandoned leasehold improvements in an unoccupied seventh location. The charge for
closing and consolidating offices consisted of an impairment charge totaling $3,556,000 and an accrual for
future cash expenditures primarily rent-related obligations totaling $2,135,000. These charges are
included in the Company’s operating expenses for 2001.
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Management determined that the future revenues to be generated from the Company’s application
outsourcing services would not be sufficient to recover the cost of the assets utilized in such operations,
and, accordingly, performed an analysis for impairment under the guidance of SFAS 121. Based on this
analysis, management determined that the fair market values of the computer equipment, office
equipment and leasehold improvements related to the data center were less than the net book value of
these assets and, therefore, recorded asset impairment charges to the book value of the above mentioned
assets to their estimated fair market value, which were determined to be zero. The Company calculated
the present value of expected cash flows from the data center to determine the fair value of assets.

During the fourth quarter of 2001, management conducted a strategic review of those offices with a
recent history of losses. The review triggered an impairment review of long-lived assets under the
guidance of SFAS 121. Based on this analysis, management determined that the fair market values of the
lease deposits, computer equipment, office equipment and leasehold improvements related to the closed
offices were less than the net book value of these assets and, therefore, recorded asset impairment charges
to the book value of the above mentioned assets to their estimated fair market value, which were
determined to be zero. The Company calculated the present value of expected cash flows from the closed
offices to determine the fair value of assets.

During 2001, the Company also recorded other charges totaling $2,162,000. These charges were
caused by an impairment charge related to inventoried software licenses. Management determined that
the software licenses to be utilized to serve certain application outsourcing services customers also had a
fair value less than their book value and, therefore, recorded a charge to write the licenses down to their
estimated fair value, which was determined to be zero. The software licenses are utilized solely for the
purpose of generating application outsourcing revenues; therefore, the charges have been recorded as
costs of revenues.

{8) Lime of Credit and Long-Term Debt

At December 31, 1999, the Company had an unpaid balance of $885,000 on a $2,100,000 term loan
bearing interest at prime plus 1%. This term loan was paid in full in April 2000.

At December 31, 1999, $1,015,000 was outstanding under the line of credit with a bank. The line of
credit had a borrowing limit of $2,000,000. The interest rate on the amounts borrowed under the line of
credit was prime plus 1%, payable monthly. The line was secured by accounts receivable, inventory,
equipment, furniture and intellectual property. No borrowings were outstanding against this line of credit
at December 31, 2000. The line of credit was not renewed upon its expiration on September 30, 2001.

{9) Capital Lease Obligations

The Company is obligated under various capital leases primarily for computer and telephone
equipment that expire at various dates through 2005. These leases meet the various criteria of capital
leases and are, therefore, classified as capital lease obligations.

Capital lease obligations reflect the present value of future rental payments, discounted at the interest
rate implicit in each of the leases. A schedule of the future minimum lease payments required under the
capital leases after December 31, 2001 follows (amounts in thousands):
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200 e e $3,433
2003 . e - 628
2004 . . e 316
2005 o 21
" Total minimum capital lease payments ................... © 4,399
Less: amounts representing interest (3.0% to 33.6%) ......... 244
Capital lease obligations. ............ .. ..., 4,155
Less: current installments of capital lease obligations......... 3,253

Capital lease obligations, less current installments ....... $ 902

The leased furniture and equipment has been included in property and equipment at a total cost of
$8,803,000 and $12,005,000 at December 31, 2001 and 2000, respectively. Accumulated depreciation
related to this furniture and equipment was $7,253,000 and $5,831,000 at December 31, 2001 and 2000,
respectively.

The Company acquired property and equipment and assumed capital lease obligations totaling
$150,000, $9,334,000 and $1,881,000 for the years ended December 31, 2001, 2000 and 1999, respectively.
Interest payments under capital lease obligations are generally paid in the period incurred.

(18) Operating Lease Commitments

The Company has entered into various non-cancelable operating lease agreements for office space,
automobiles, and office equipment. The terms of these agreements range from 3 to 10 years and all of the
leases require monthly payments. The Company is generally responsible for all exécutory costs including
maintenance, insurance, utilities and taxes. Total rent expense was $5,474,000, $3,616,000, and $748,000
for the years ended December 31, 2001, 2000, and 1999, respectively.

A summary of the future minimum lease payments under operating leases after December 31, 2001
follows (amounts in thousands): '

2002 L e e $ 5,762
2003 L e 4,554
2004 e e 3,633
2005 e e e 2,984
2000 . e e 1,889
Thereafter . ... i 2,893

$21,715

During 2001, the Company recorded asset impairments and restructuring charges incurred in
connection with the closing and consolidating of office locations. The charge included an accrual for the
future estimated lease payments associated with these facilities of approximately $1,476,000. See note 7.
This amount is included in the future minimum lease payments under operating leases for 2002.

During 2001, the Company terminated a lease for new office space in Tempe, Arizona. The above
future minimum lease payments exclude any payment amounts for the terminated lease. See note 18.

(11) Imcome Taxes

The Company did not record a provision for federal or state income taxes during 2001, 2000 and 1999
due to the net losses reported during those periods. The Company also did not record a benefit for federal
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income taxes during 2001 and 2000 and no benefit for state income taxes during 2001, 2000 and 1999 due
to limitations on the use of net operating loss carryforwards. The Company reported a benefit for federal
income taxes of $18,000 for the year ended December 31, 1999.

The provision for income taxes differs from the amount computed by applying the statutory federal
corporate income tax rate of 34% to income before income taxes. The sources and tax effects of the
differences are as follows (amounts in thousands):

Years Ended December 31,

_ 2001 _ 2008 1999
Computed expected income tax benefit ............. $(16,794) $(8,646) $(478)
Nondeductible permanent differences............... 88 78 23
State income tax benefit, net of federal benefit....... (3,248) 1,715) (132)
Difference in rates due to conversion from S .
corporation to C corporation status............... — — (935)
Inability to utilize net operating loss carryforwards . .. _ 19,954 10,283 664
$ — $  — $ (18)

The tax effects of temporary differences that give rise to significant portions of the deferred tax assets
and deferred tax liabilities are as follows (amounts in thousands):

December 31,

2001 2000
Deferred tax assets:
Bad debts. . ... e $ 2778 $ 2,938
Debt iSSUANCE COSE. . vttt vttt et ie et 35 17
Accrued vacation and other................ ... ... ol 206 211
Property and equipment, principally due to differences
in depreciation and impairment. ............. ... 0o 5,668 597
Charitable contribution carryforward. ......................... 48 20
Net operating loss carryforward ................ ... ... . ... 22,187 7,214
Gross deferred 1aX aSSelS . oottt e e 30,922 10,997
Less valuation allowance .......... ..ot 30,902 10,947
Net deferred tax assets .. ... i i 20 50
Deferred tax liabilities:
Prepaid expenses and other deferred liabilities ................... (20) (50)
Gross deferred tax liabilities . ........ ... ... . o oo (20) (50)
Net deferred tax liabilities .. ....... oo $ — 5 —

At December 31, 2001, the Company had net operating loss carryforwards of approximately
$54,489,000 for U.S. federal and state income tax purposes that expire in years 2018 through 2021. Due
to the frequency of equity transactions within the Company, it is possible that the use of the net operating
loss carryforward may be limited in accordance with Section 382 of the Internal Revenue Code. A
determination as to this limitation will be made at a future date as the net operating losses are utilized.

The valuation allowance for deferred tax assets as of December 31, 2001 and 2000 was $30,902,000
and $10,947,000, respectively. The net change in the total valuation allowance for the years ended
December 31, 2001 and 2000 was an increase of $19,955,000 and $10,283,000, respectively. In assessing the
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realizability of deferred tax assets, management considers whether it is more likely than not that some
portion or all of the deferred tax assets will not be realized. The ultimate realization of deferred tax assets
is dependent upon generation of future taxable income during the periods in which those temporary
differences become deductible. Management considers the scheduled reversal of deferred tax liabilities,
projected future taxable income, and tax planning strategies in making this assessment. Based upon the
level of historical losses and projections for future taxable income/losses over the periods in which the
deferred tax assets are deductible, management believes it is more likely than not that the Company will
not realize the benefits of these deductible differences.

(12) Convertible Preferred Stock

Series A 10% Convertible Preferred Stock (“Series A Stock”) is $.001 par value and has a liquidation
value of $1.80 per share, the price paid for the stock. The holder of Series A Stock is entitled to an annual
cumulative dividend of 10% of the liquidation value. Cumulative dividends at December 31, 1999 totaled
$214,521. The Series A Stock is convertible into common stock at the option of the holder at a conversion
price of $1.80 per share. The holder of the Series A Stock is entitled to one vote for each share of common
stock into which it may convert. On April 15, 1999, the Company received approximately $2,882,000, net
of issuance costs of $118,000, from the sale of 1,666,666 shares of Series A Stock. The agreement also
provides for the holder of the Series A Stock to invest, at its option, an additional $2,000,000 by
purchasing Series B Stock. All shares of Series A Stock were converted to common stock concurrent with
the Company’s Initial Public Offering in March 2000.

Series B 10% Convertible Preferred Stock (“Series B Stock”) is $.001 par value and has a liquidation
value of $2.66 per share. The Series B Stock is entitled to an annual cumulative dividend of 10% on the
liquidation value. Cumulative dividends at December 31, 1999 totaled $31,233. Each share of Series B
Stock is generally convertible into common stock at a conversion price of $2.66 per share. In
November 1999, the Series A holder exercised its option to purchase Series B Stock, and the Company
received $2,000,000 from the sale of 751,879 shares of Series B Stock. The other terms and redemption
feature of the Series B Stock are substantially the same as the Series A Stock. All shares of Series B Stock
were converted to common stock concurrent with the Company’s Initial Public Offering in March 2000.

In January 2000, the Company received $19,411,000, net of issuance costs of $789,000, from the sale
of 2,119,625 shares of Series C Convertible Preferred Stock (“Series C Stock”). The terms and redemption
features of the Series C Preferred Stock operate in substantially the same manner as the Series A Stock
and Series B Stock, except that the conversion and liquidation price of the Series C Preferred Stock is
$9.33 per share, the same as the purchase price per share for the shares of Series C Stock. All shares of
Series C Stock were converted to common stock concurrent with the Company’s Initial Public Offering
in March 2000.

(13) Common Stock

During 1999, the Company issued 10,800 shares of common stock valued at $2.00 a share to a
consultant as compensation for services which was charged to operations.

During 1999, the Company sold 373,750 shares of common stock through a private placement at a
price of $2.00 per share for cash proceeds of $711,000, net of expenses.

In March 2000, the Company sold 4,945,000 shares of common stock through an Initial Public
Offering at a price of $15.00 per share for cash proceeds of $67,516,000, net of underwriters’ discount and
issuance costs of $6,659,000.

During 2001, the Company repurchased 4,951,800 shares of its common stock at a cost of $5,282,000.
These shares are reflected as treasury stock in the accompanying consolidated financial statements.
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(14) Employee Benefit Plans

{a) Retirement Plan

The Company established a qualified 401(k) salary deferral plan (defined contribution plan) in
July 1996. The plan covers substantially all full-time employees who have completed ninety days of
service. Subject to limits imposed by Internal Revenue Service regulations and other options retained by
the Company affecting participant contributions, participants may voluntarily contribute between 2% and
15% of their annual wages not to exceed limits established by the Tax Reform Act of 1986. The Company
is required to match 25% of the first 4% of participants’ contributions. Participants are immediately vested
in the amount of their contributions. Participants vest over a six-year period with respect to employer
contributions. The Company’s 401(k) salary deferral plan expense was $142,000, $240,000, and $73,000 for
the years ended December 31, 2001, 2000, and 1999, respectively.

{(b) Incentive Stock Option Plan and Warrants

The Company adopted the Integrated Information Systems, Inc. 1997 Long-term Incentive Stock
Option Plan in January 1997 (“1997 Plan”) pursuant to the Internal Revenue Code. Common stock
reserved for grants to participants under the 1997 Plan total 6,000,000 shares at December 31, 2001 and
4,500,000 shares at December 31, 2000 and 1999. Options become exercisable over varying periods up to
five years and expire at the earlier of termination of employment or ten years after the date of grant. The
options under the 1997 Plan have been granted at the fair market value of the Company’s common stock
at the date of grant, as determined by the Company’s board of directors prior to the initial public offering.
Per the 1997 Plan, options may be granted within a period of ten years from the adoption date of the 1997
Plan.

"There were 1,313,799, 1,887,130 and 2,214,957 shares available for grant under the 1997 Plan as of
December 31, 2001, 2000 and 1999, respectively. The per share weighted average fair value of stock
options granted under the 1997 Plan for the periods ended December 31, 2001, 2000 and 1999, was $0.71,
$7.06 and $0.43, respectively, based on the date of grant using the minimum value method for 1999 and
the Black-Scholes Method for 2001 and 2000 with the following weighted average assumptions:

December 31,

_ } 2001 2000 1999
Expected life (vears). . ..o, » - 3.00 3.50 3.60 .
Risk-free interest rate ............ ..., 4.00% 5.00% 5.00%
Dividend yield......... ..., 0.00% 0.00% 0.00%
Volatility . ..o 150.00% 150.00% —
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The following table summarizes information stock option activity for the years ending December 31,
1999, 2000 and 2001:

Options Outstanding
Weighted

Average Exercisable
Shares Exercise Price Shares

QOutstanding, December 31,1998 ................... 1,043,000 $1.42 83,750
Granted. ... 1,401,543 2.67 —
Exercised ......ooviiiiiiiiiiii., e (4,475) 1.08 —
Canceled........... .. ..o il (155,025) - 2.09 —
Outstanding, December 31,1999 ................... 2,285,043 2.15 281,643
Granted. . ... i e 1,257,850 8.28 —_—
Exercised ......coovviiiiiiiins e (115,625) 2.04 —
Canceled. ... ..o e (814,398) 5.64 —
QOutstanding, December 31,2000 ................... 2,612,870 4.01 564,109
Granted. . ... e 3,926,450 0.71 —
Exercised ...t e (120,000) 0.60 —
Canceled...........ociiiiiiiiii i, (1,973,719) 3.50 —
Qutstanding, December 31,2001 ................... 4,445,601 $1.39 647,338

The following table summarizes information about the stock options outstanding at December 31,

2001:

Weighted
Average Weighted Weighted
Remaining Average Options Average
Range of Exercise Options Contractual Exercise Exer- Exercise

Prices Outstanding Life (years) Price cisable Price

$0.50 - %066 .......... 2,540,650 9.61 $ 0.50 117,900 $ 050
$0.83 -81.00 .......... 566,200 9.59 0.99 28,890 0.99
$1.03-%$1.13 .......... 389,100 9.20 1.10 75,910 1.11
$1.19-%$2.00.......... 524,025 6.80 1.99 334,000 1.99
$320-8$420.......... 117,718 7.86 3.83 44,344 3.84
$5.00-%6.81 .......... 201,450 8.59 0.76 25,548 6.77
$7.63-$953 .......... 84,530 8.17 . 8.90 17,130 9.10
$12.25 -$1500 ........ 21,928 8.26 13.18 3,616 13.64
$0.50 - $15.00 ......... 4,445,601 9.11 $ 1.39 647,338 $ 2.14

As a subsequent event, the Company adopted the Integrated Information Systems, Inc. 2002
Broad-Based Stock Incentive Plan in February 2002 (“2002 Plan”) pursuant to the Internal Revenue
Code. Common stock reserved for grants to participants under the 2002 Plan totals 6,000,000 shares.
Options become exercisable over varying periods up to five years and expire at the earlier of termination '
of employment or ten years after the date of grant. There were no options granted under the 2002 Plan
at December 31, 2001.
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Had the Company determined compensation cost based on the fair value at the grant date for its

stock options under SFAS 123, the Company’s net loss would have been increased to the pro forma
amounts indicated below (amounts in thousands):

Years Ended December 31,

2001 2000 1999
Net loss as reported ............. $(49,395) (25,428) (1,389)
Pro forma (unaudited) ........... (49,969) (25,577) (1,470)

During December 1997, the Company issued 100,000 warrants to purchase shares of common stock
in connection with long-term debt executed with a bank. The warrants are exercisable at $2.00 per share
and expire in December 2007. The debt has been repaid, but the warrants are still outstanding at
December 31, 2001. The value assigned to the warrants, totaling $50,548, was charged to interest over the
term of the debt.

During April 1999, the Company issued 17,000 warrants to purchase shares of common stock at an
exercise price of $2.00 per share in connection with a private placement memorandum. These warrants
were exercised in April 2000.

{(c) Employee Stock Purchase Plan

The Company established an Employee Stock Purchase Plan (“Purchase Plan™) in March 2000,
under which 400,000 shares of common stock have been reserved for issuance. Eligible employees may
purchase a limited number of shares of the Company’s common stock at 85% of the market value at
certain plan-defined dates.

Shares issued under the Purchase Plan were 191,458 and 155,102 in 2001 and 2000, respectively. The
net proceeds from shares issued under the Purchase Plan were $103,000 and $246,000 in 2001 and 2000,
respectively. At December 31, 2001, 53,440 shares were available for issuance under the Purchase Plan.

{15} Acquisitions

As part of our effort to adjust our structure to better address a rapidly changing and declining IT
services market, we developed and began implementing an aggressive growth strategy through acquiring
like-minded peer consultancies. The acquisition target companies ideally have leading competitive
positions in regional and vertical markets, a proven track record of providing Microsoft-based solutions,
a booked backlog of project work for premier clients, managers in place who are capable of leading a
regional division for the Company, a working culture and ethic similar to our own and are owned by
consultants who remain active in the business.

On August 20, 2001, the Company completed a series of transactions with K2 Digital, Inc. (“K2”),
a publicly held digital services firm based in New York City. In that transaction, 24 management and
consuiting employees of K2 were hired, certain related fixed assets were acquired and the leased office
space of K2 in New York City was assumed. The total purchase price consisted of cash payments of
$544,000 for certain K2 assets and $709,000 for the assumption of liabilities. In the purchase price
allocation, $927,000 was recorded as goodwill.

On September 28, 2001, a similar series of transactions were completed with STEP Technology, Inc.
(“STEP”), a Portland, Oregon-based information technology consulting firm. In that transaction, 54
management and consulting personnel of STEP were hired, certain related assets were acquired and a
portion of STEP’ office space in Portland was assumed. The total purchase price consisted of cash
payments of $1,140,000 for certain STEP assets and $1,041,000 for the assumption of liabilities. In the
purchase price allocation, $1,433,000 was recorded as goodwill. In addition to the cash consideration,
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under the purchase agreement, if in 2002, 2003, and 2004 annual earnings from STEP operations are
positive, STEP is entitled to additional consideration from this transaction based on a percentage of the
revenues generated and limited to an agreed upon percentage of earnings.

On QOctober 31, 2001, a series of transactions were completed with INTEFLUX, Inc. (“INTE-
FLUX"), a privately-owned international technology consulting firm based in Phoenix, Arizona, with
operations in New York City and London, England. In that transaction, 19 management and consulting
employees of INTEFLUX were hired, certain related assets were acquired and INTEFLUX’s office space
in Phoenix and London was assumed. The total purchase price consisted of cash payments of $50,000 and
the issuance of common stock totaling $187,000 for certain INTEFLUX assets and $319,000 for the
assumption of liabilities. In the purchase price allocation, $346,000 was recorded as goodwill. In addition
to the cash and common stock consideration, under the purchase agreement, if in 2002, 2003 and 2004
annual earnings from INTEFLUX operations are positive, INTEFLUX is entitled additional consider-
ation from this transaction based on a percentage of the revenues generated and limited to an agreed
upon percentage of earnings or dollar amount.

On November 16, 2001, a series of transactions were completed with Winfield Allen, Inc. (“Winfield
Allen”), a Denver, Colorado-based information technology consulting firm. In that transaction, 24
management and consulting personnel of Winfield Allen were hired, certain related assets were acquired
and Winfield Allen’s leased office space in Colorado was assumed. The total purchase price consisted of
cash payments of $84,000 and the issuance of common stock totaling $136,000 for certain Winfield Allen
assets, the assumption of a note payable for $103,000 and $173,000 for the assumption of liabilities. In the
purchase price allocation, $358,000 was recorded as goodwill. In addition to the cash and common stock
consideration, under the purchase agreement, if in 2002, 2003, and 2004 annual earnings from Winfield
Allen operations are positive, Winfield Allen is entitled to additional consideration from this transaction
based on a percentage of the revenues generated and limited to an agreed upon percentage of earnings
or dollar amount.

As part of these acquisitions, intangible assets totaling $607,000 were acquired consisting of
non-compete agreements of $250,000 and employee agreements of $357,000. The non-compete intangible
assets will be amortized over their contractual lives, which are generally five years. The employee
agreements’ intangible assets will be amortized over their contractual lives, which are generally less than
one year. The total goodwill recorded for these four acquisitions total $3,187,000, which includes
acquisition related costs of $123,000. It is estimated that most of this goodwill will be deductible for tax
purposes, subject to the utilization of the Company’s net operating losses. See note 11.

In connection with these acquisitions, the Company acquired accounts receivable of $414,000 and
fixed assets of $379,000, and assumed a note payable totaling $103,000. The Company issued 507,108
shares of common stock valued at $365,000, of which $43,000 was used to repay a portion of the assumed
note payable. The remaining amount due under this note payable is classified as a current liability and will
be paid during 2002. The Company’s assumed obligations include capital leases totaling $164,000.

The Company’s financial statements reflect the results of operations for each acquisition from the
transaction date. The following summary, prepared on a pro forma basis, presents the results of operations
as if the acquisitions of K2, STEP, INTEFLUX and Winfield Allen had been completed as of January 1,
2000 (amounts in thousands, except per share amounts):
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Years Ended
December 31,

2001 2000
(unaudited)
Revenues. .. ..o $ 45,225 $ 76,574
Operating losses. . ... .. (55,859) (31,586)
Net 1oSS . vt (55,069) (27,633)
Netlosspershare ................. . ... ... (2.96) (1.39)

The pro forma results are not necessarily indicative of what actually would have occurred if the
transactions had been completed as of January 1, 2000. In addition, they are not intended to be a
projection of future results and do not reflect any synergies that might be achieved from combined
operations.

In a subsequent event, on January 25, 2002, the Company completed another series of transactions
with Goliath Networks, Inc. (“Goliath”), a Madison, Wisconsin-based information technology consul-
tancy. In that transaction, 81 management and consulting personnel of Goliath were hired, certain related
assets acquired and the leased office space of Goliath in Madison and Milwaukee, Wisconsin was assumed.

The transaction was paid for with a combination of cash payments totaling $400,000, the issuance of
a note payable totaling $4,250,000 to a bank and the assumption of certain liabilities of Goliath. The
amount of the note will be increased, as the Company will also purchase some of Goliath’s accounts
receivable. The note payable bears interest at 7% per year. Payments on the note are interest only for the
first year. Principal and interest payments for the second, third and fourth years will be based on a ten-year
amortization schedule. The unpaid principal will be paid in full at the end of the fourth year. The note
payable is collateralized by computer equipment and office equipment owned by the Company.

{16) Net Loss Per Share

The following table sets forth the computation of basic and diluted net loss per share (in thousands,
except per share amounts):

Years Ended December 31,

2001 2000 1999
Net 108 ottt e $(49,395)  $(25.428) $(1,389)
Preferred stock dividends ...... ... ... — — (246)
Net loss attributable to common stockholders ............. (49,395) (25,428) (1,635)
Effect of dilutive securities:
Preferred stock dividend. . . .......... . ... . .. . e — — 246
Net loss attributable to common stockholders after assumed
COMVETSION & vttt t vttt eeee e et e iie e ee e eeenns $(49,395)  $(25428)  $(1,389)
Weighted average outstanding common shares ................ 18,205 19,302 10,828
Effect of dilutive securities:
Stock options and warrants ............. ... 164 1,382 656
Convertible preferred stock ......... . ... . . i — — 1,743
Antidilutive effect of securities ............. .. ...t (164) (1,382) (2,399)
Weighted average and common equivalent shares
outstanding ......... .. e 18,205 19,302 10,828
Loss per share:
Basicand diluted .......... ... i $ 271 $ (1.32) $ (15
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(I7) Significant Customers

Two customers accounted for 22% and 12% of total revenue for the year ended December 31, 2001.
Two customers accounted for 24% and 10% of total revenue for the year ended December 31, 2000. One
customer accounted for 35% of total revenue for the year ended December 31, 1999. One customer
accoiinted for 12% of the total accounts receivable balance at December 31, 2001. Two customers
accounted for 25% and 10% of the total accounts recelvable balance at December 31, 2000.

(18) Contingencies and Reﬂaﬁedl P&nn’ﬁy Transactions

During July and August 2001, four purported class action lawsuits were ﬁled in the United States
District Court for the Southern District of New York against the Company, certain of its current and
former officers and directors and the members of the underwriting syndicate involved in the Company’s
initial public offering. The plaintiffs seek unspemﬁed compensatory damages and other relief. The
Company has sought indemnification from the underwriters of its initial public offering. The Company
believes that the clalms against it are unfounded and without merit and intends to vigorously defend th1s
matter.

In December 2001, the Company terminated a lease for new office space in Tempe, Arizona as a
result of the lessor’s failure to deliver the leased premises in a timely manner and filed suit against the
lessor to recover damages it incurred in preparing to move to the premises. During March 2002, the lessor
filed a counterclaim for lost rent, lost parking income, lost expense reimbursement, commissions and
unpaid construction costs and indemnification for construction costs and its attorneys’ fees and interest.
The Company believes that the counterclaims are without merit, intends vigorously to prosecute its claim
and to defend against the lessor’s counterclaim.

Additionally, the Company is, from time to time, party to various legal proceedings arising in the
ordinary course of business. The Company evaluates such claims on a case-by-case basis, and its policy is
to vigorously contest any such claims which it believes are without merit.

During 2001, the Company incurred expenses totaling $133,000 for consulting services provided by
a board member. As of December 31, 2001, the Company had a receivable of $40,500 from an officer and
director.

(19) Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements

In June 2001, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued Statement of Financial
Accounting Standard No. 141, Business Combinations (SFAS 141), and Statement of Financial Account-
ing Standard No. 142, Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets (SFAS 142). SFAS 141 became effective for
the Company as of July 1, 2001. It establishes new standards for accounting and reporting requirements
for business combinations and requires the purchase method of accounting be used for ail business
combinations initiated after June 30, 2001. SFAS 142 became effective for the Company on January 1,
2002 and requires, among other things, the cessation of the amortization of goodwill. In addition, the
standard includes provisions for the reassessment of the useful lives of existing recognized intangibles, a
new method of measuring reported goodwill for impairment and the identification of reporting units for
purposes of assessing potential future impairments of goodwill. SFAS 142 also requires the Company to
complete a transitional goodwill impairment test on or before June 30, 2002.

As discussed in note 15, the Company has recorded $3,187,000 of goodwill relating to the four
acquisitions completed after the effective date of SFAS 141 and there has been no amortization expense
recorded in the accompanying financial statements. The Company is in the process of evaluating the
impact of the provisions of SFAS 142, including any impairment resulting from the transition tests.

In August 2001, the FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standard No. 143, Accounting
for Asset Retirement Obligations (SFAS 143), which addresses financial accounting and reporting for
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obligations associated with the retirement of tangible long-lived assets and for the associated asset
retirement costs. SEAS 143 requires an enterprise to record the fair value of an asset retirement obligation
as a liability in the period in which it incurs a legal obligation associated with the retirement of tangible
long-lived assets that result from the acquisition, construction, development and/or normal use of the
assets. The enterprise also is to record a corresponding increase to the carrying amount of the related
long-lived assets and to depreciate that cost over the life of the asset. The liability is changed at the end
of each period to reflect the passage of time (i.e., accretion expense) and changes in the estimated future
cash flows underlying the initial fair value measurement. The Company is required to adopt SFAS 143 in
2003 and the Company believes its adoption will not have a material effect on the Company’s consolidated
financial statements.

In August 2001, the FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standard No. 144, Accounting
for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets (SFAS 144) that addresses financial accounting and
reporting for the impairment or disposal of long-lived assets, including discontinued operations. While
SFAS 144 supercedes SFAS 121, Accounting for the Impairment of Long-Lived Assets and for Long-Lived
Assets to Be Disposed Of, it retains many of the fundamental provisions of that Statement. SFAS 144 also
supersedes certain provisions of ABP Opinion No. 30, Reporting the Results of Operations—Reporting the
Effects of Disposal of a Segment of a Business, and Extraordinary, Unusual and Infrequently Occurring
Events and Transactions, for the disposal of a segment of a business. The provisions of SFAS 144 will be
effective for the Company in 2002 and are to be applied prospectively. The Company does not believe the
adoption of SFAS 144 will have a material impact on its consolidated financial statements.

(20} Supplemental Financial Information

A summary of additions and deductions related to the allowance for doubtful accounts for the years
ended December 31, 1999, 2000 and 2001 follows (in thousands):

Balances Charged

at to costs Balance
beginning and at end of
of year expenses Deductions year
Allowance for doubtful accounts
1999 Lo $ 115 § 766 § (168) $ 713
2000 . ... e 713 11,825 (5,744) 6,794
2001 et 6,794 898 (862) 6,830

(21} Quarterly Financial Data (Unaudited)
A summary of the quarterly data for the years ended December 31, 2001 and 2000 follows
(in thousands, except per share amounts):

Quarters Ended
Dee. 31, Sept. 30, Jumne 30, Mar. 31, Dec. 31, Sept. 38, June 30, Mar. 31,

2091 2001 2001 2001 2000 2000 2009 2000

Revenues . ........... $ 5988 $ 6,172 $ 8,655 $10,437 $ 11,119 $17.336 $15,381 $10,454
Grossprofit. . ......... 710 358 (2,156) 1,126 1,236 6,974 6,599 4,939
Operating expenses . . ... 13,124 9,336 18,007 9,729 18,159 11,399 10,634 7,365
Loss from operations . . . . (12,414) (8,978) (20,163) (8,603) (16,923) (4.425) (4,035) (2,426)

Netloss .......... $(12,452)y  $(8,771)  $(19,953) $(8219) $(16257)  $(3.687) $(3217)  $(2,267)
Loss per share:

Basicand diluted. ... $ (76) $ (52) § (105) § (400 $ (79 § (18) $ (1) $ (14)

Certain reclassifications have been made to quarterly financial data to conform to the current
presentation.
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ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS
ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE

None.

ITEM 1¢. DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE REGISTRANT

The response to this Item regarding our directors and compliance with Section 16(a) of the Exchange
Act by our officers and directors will be contained in the Proxy Statement for the 2002 Annual Meeting
of Shareholders under the captions “Election of Directors” and “Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership
Reporting Compliance” and is incorporated by reference herein. The response to this Item regarding our
executive officers is contained in the Supplemental Item — “Executive Officers of the Registrant” found
in Part I of this report.

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The response to this Item will be contained in the Proxy Statement for the 2002 Annual Meeting of
Shareholders under the captions “How are directors compensated?” and “Executive Compensation” and
is incorporated by reference herein. ’

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND
MANAGEMENT ‘

The response to the Item will be contained in the Proxy Statement for the 2002 Annual Meeting of
Shareholders under the caption “Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management”
and is incorporated by reference herein.

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS

The response to this Item will be contained in the Proxy Statement for the 2002 Annual Meeting of
Shareholders under the caption “Certain Relationships and Related Transactions” and is incorporated by
reference herein.
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PART IV

ITEM 14. EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENTS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES,
AND REPORTS ON FORM 8-K

14(a){1}(2) Financial Statements

See the Index to Consolidated Financial Statements and Financial Statement Schedule in Part II,
Item 8.

14(a)(3) Exhibits

Exhilbit

No. Description

31 Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.3 of the
Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (File No. 333-94861) for the period ended June 30, 2000).

3.2 Amended and Restated By-Laws (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 of the Company’s Annual
Report on Form 10-K (File No. 333-94861) for the period ended December 31, 2000).

42 Warrant granted to Imperial Bank dated December 18, 1997 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2
of the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-94861) dated January 18, 2000).

4.3 Amended and Restated Registration Agreement dated January 13, 2000 (incorporated by reference to

' Exhibit 4.3 of the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-94861) dated January 18,

2000).

10.1 Integrated Information Systems, Inc. 1997 Long Term Incentive Plan, as amended (incorporated by

reference to Exhibit 10.1 of the Company’s Registration Statement on Form $-1 (File No. 333-94861)
dated January 18, 2000).

102  Amended and Restated Integrated Information Systems, Inc. 2000 Employee Stock Purchase
Plan(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 of the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K (File No.
333-94861) for the period ended December 31, 2000).

10.3 Employment Agreement between the Company and James G. Garvey, Jr. (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.3 of the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-94861) dated
January 18, 2000).

104 Employment Agreement between the Company and David Wirthlin (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.4 of the Companys Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-94861) dated
January 18, 2000).

10.6 Employment Agreement between the Company and Jeffrey Frankel (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.6 of the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-94861) dated
January 18, 2000).

10.6(a) Separation Agreement and General Release between the Company and Jeffrey Frankel dated May 30,
2001.

10.8(a) Credit Facilities Agreement between the Company and Imperial Bank amended and restated as of
April 30,1999 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.8(a) of the Company’s Registration Statement on
Form S-1 (File No. 333-94861) dated January 18, 2000).

10.8(b) Restated Facility Promissory Note dated April 30, 1999 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.8 (b)
of the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-94861) dated January 18, 2000).

10.8(c) Restated Security Agreement dated April 30, 1999 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.8(c) of the
Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-94861) dated January 18, 2000).

50




Exhibit
No.

10.8(d)

10.8(e)

10.8(f)

10.8(g)

109

10.10

10.11

10.12

10.13

10.14

10.15

10.16

10.17

10.18

10.19

Description

Restated Security Agreement and Mortgage for Trademarks and Copyrights dated April 30, 1999
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.8(d) of the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1
(File No. 333-94861) dated January 18, 2000).

First Modification of Credit Facilities Agreement between the Company and Imperial Bank dated as of
June 30, 1999 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.8(3) of the Company’s Registration Statement on
Form S-1 (File No. 333-94861) dated January 18, 2000).

Term Loan Note dated June 30, 1999 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.8(f) of the Company’s
Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-94861) dated January 18, 2000).

Second Modification of Credit Facilities Agreement between the Company and Imperial Bank dated as
of December 20, 1999 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.8(g) of the Company’s Registration
Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-94861) dated January 18, 2000).

Lease Agreement between the Company and AmberJack Ltd. dated December 8, 1998 (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.9 of the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-94861)
dated January 18, 2000).

Lease Agreement between the Company and AmberJjack Ltd. dated September 7, 1999 (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.10 of the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-94861)
dated January 18, 2000).

Lease Agreement between the Company and AmberJack Ltd. dated September 7, 1999 (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.11 of the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-94861)
dated January 18, 2000).

Assignment and Assumption of Lease Agreement between the company and Universal Pensions, Inc.
dated September 8, 1999 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.12 of the Company’s Registration
Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-94861) dated January 18, 2000).

Lease Agreement between the Company and AmberJack Ltd. dated April 25, 1997 (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.13 of the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-94861)
dated January 18, 2000).

Sublease Agreement between the Company and Bank of America, FSB d/b/a BankAmerica Housing
Services, dated May 10, 1998 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.14 of the Company’s Registration
Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-94861) dated January 18, 2000).

Lease Agreement between the Company and Information Technology Park Limited dated August 2,
1999 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.15 of the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1
(File No. 333-94861) dated January 18, 2000).

Lease Agreement between the Company and 3930 Building Partnership dated November 30, 1999
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.16 of the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File
No. 333-94861) dated January 18, 2000).

Equipment Acquisition Agreement between the Company and BancBoston Leasing Inc. dated June 1,
1998 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.17 of the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1
(File No. 333-94861) dated January 18, 2000).

Master Lease Finance Agreement between the Company and BancBoston Leasing Inc. dated February 20,
1998 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.18 of the Company’s registration Statement on Form S-1
(File No. 333-96861) dated January 18, 2000). '

Master Lease Finance Agreement between the Company and Imperial Bank dated April 8, 1999
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.19 of the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File
No. 333-94861) dated January 18, 2000).
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Exhibit

No.

10.20
10.21
10.22
10.23
10.24
‘10.25
10.26
10.27
10.28

10.29

10.30

10.31

10.32

10.33

Description

Form of Indemnity Agreement between the Company and its directors and executive officers
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.20 of the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File
No. 333-94861) dated January 18, 2000).

Lease Agreement between the Company and MCW Brickyard Commercial, LLC dated October 3, 1999
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.21 of the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File
No. 333-94861) dated January 18, 2000).

Master Consulting Services Agreement between the Company and realink.com, Corporation dated
September 14, 1999 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.22 of the Company’s Registration
Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-94861) dated January 18, 2000).

Lease Agreement between the Company and Riggs & Co. dated February 8, 2000 (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.23 of the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1/A (File No. 333-94861)
dated March 14, 2000).

Lease Agreement between the Company and Water Garden Company L.L.C. (incorporated by reference
to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (File No. 333-94861) for the period ending March 31,
2000).

Lease Agreement between the Company and Deerfield Holdings, L.P. dated March 12, 2000 (incorporated
by reference to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (File No. 333-94861) for the period
ending March 31, 2000).

Lease Agreement between the Company and MONY/BDP I, L.L.C. dated May 26, 2000 (incorporated
by reference to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (File No. 333-94861) for the period
ending June 30, 2000).

Lease Agreement between the Company and PAC Court Associates, L.P. dated May 16, 2000
(incorporated by reference to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (File No. 333-94861) for
the period ending June 30, 2000).

Sublease Agreement between the Company and UPS Telecommunications, Inc. dated April 19,
2001 (incorporated by reference to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (File No. 333-94861)
for the period ending March 31, 2001).

Sublease Agreement between the Company and iTRACS Corporation dated February 27, 2001 and
Addendum to Sublease Agreement between the Company and iTRACS Corporation dated March 5,
2001 (incorporated by reference to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (File No. 333-94861)
for the period ending March 31, 2001).

Lease Agreement between the Company and Regency Tower LLC dated February 22, 2001 (incorporated
by reference to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (File No. 333-94861) for the period
ending June 30, 2001).

Assignment and Assumption of Lease between the Company, The CIT Group/Equipment Financing,
Inc., and Birtcher Arizona, LLC Manager for AmberJack, Ltd. dated July 10, 2001 (incorporated by
reference to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (File No. 333-94861) for the period ending
June 30, 2001).

Assignment and Assumption of Lease between the Company, The CIT Group/Equipment Financing,
Inc., and Birtcher Arizona, LLC Manager for AmberJack, Ltd. dated July 10, 2001 (incorporated by
reference to the Company’s Cuarterly Report on Form 10-Q (File No. 333-94861) for the period ending
June 30, 2001).

Assignment and Assumption of Lease and License Agreement between the Company and K2 Digital,
Inc. dated August 1, 2001 (incorporated by reference to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q
(File No. 333-94861) for the period ending September 30, 2001).
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Exhibit
No.

10.34

10.35

10.36
10.37

10.38

10.39

10.40
10.41

10.42

10.43
10.44
10.45
21
231

Description

Lease Agreement between the Company and Resilient Floor Covering Pension Fund dated September 28,
2001 (incorporated by reference to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (File No. 333-94861)
for the period ending September 30, 2001).

Separation Agreement and General Release between the Company and David Wirthlin (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.35 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (File No. 333-94861) for
the period ended September 30, 2001).

Office Lease between INTEFLUX, Inc. and SOFI-IV SIM Office Investors 11, Limited Partnership dated
November 1, 2000.

Standard  Building Lease between Winfield Allen, Incorporated and AH. Root Limited Liability
Company dated May 14, 1999.

Master Transaction Agreement by and among Integrated Information Systems, Inc. and Goliath
Networks, Inc., Michael S. Polsky, as Receiver for Goliath Networks, Inc., Mark E. Bakken, and
AnchorBank, fsb dated December 21, 2001.

First Amendment to Master Transaction Agreement by and among Integrated Information Systems, Inc.
and Goliath Networks, Inc., Michael S. Polsky, as Receiver for Goliath Networks, Inc., Mark E. Bakken,
and AnchorBank, fsb dated January 23, 2002.

Lease Agreement between the Company and Ross Menard dated January 23, 2002.

Subordinated Note in the amount of $4,250,000 by the Company to AnchorBank, fsb dated January 25,
2002.

Selective Business Security Agreement between the Company and AnchorBank, fsb dated January 25,
2002.

Employment Agreement between the Company and William A. Mahan.
Employment Agreement between the Company and Mark N. Rogers.
Integrated Information Systems, Inc. 2002 Broad-Based Stock Incentive Plan.
List of Subsidiaries

Consent of KPMG LLP
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14(b)

Reports on Form 8-K

Form 8-X filed October 4, 2001 to file as exhibit 99.1 a press release titled “Integrated
Information Systems Acquires Certain Assets and Hires the Management and Professional
Staff of STEP Technology — An Established Northwest and Intermountain Technology and
Business Consulting Firm.”

Form 8-K filed November 9, 2001 to file as exhibit 99.1 a press release titled “IIS Reports
Third Quarter Results and Reviews Its Growth Strategy During a Downturn.”

Form 8-K filed November 19, 2001 to file as exhibit 99.1 a press release titled “Integrated
Information Systems Acquires Certain Assets and Hires the Management and Professional
Staff of Winfield Allen — An Established Intermountain Technology and Business
Consulting Firm.”

Form 8-K filed December 27, 2001 to file as exhibit 99.1 a press release titled “IIS Enters
Into Agreements to Hire the Management and Professional Staff and Acquire Certain
Assets of Goliath Networks.”
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the

Registrant has duly caused this re

authorized.

Date: March 27, 2002

port to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly

INTEGRATED INFORMATION SYSTEMS, INC.

/s! James G. Garvey, Jr.

- James G. Garvey, Jr.

Chairman of the Board of Directors, Chief Executive

Officer and President

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed
below by the following persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

Signature

/s/ James G. Garvey, Jr.

James G. Garvey, Jr.

/s/ William A. Mahan

William A. Mahan

/s/ John Blair

John Blair

/s/ R. Nicholas Loope

R. Nicholas Loope

/s/ Stephen Brown

Stephen Brown

/s/ Richard M. Gardner

Richard M. Gardner

Title

Chairman of the Board of Directors,
Chief Executive Officer and President

Executive Vice President and Chief
Financial Officer

Director

Director

Director

Director
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Date

March 27, 2002

March 27, 2002

March 27, 2002

March 27, 2002

March 27, 2002

March 27, 2002
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Board of Directors
James G. Garvey
Chairman
R. Nicholas Loope
John M. Blair -
Stephen W. Brown
Richard M. Gardner

Corporate Officers
James G. Garvey
CEOQ and President
William A. Mahan
Executive Vice President and CFO
Mark N. Rogers
Vice President and General Counsel

Independent Certified Public Accountants
KMPG LLP

Legal Counsel
Snell & Wilmer LLP

Investor Relations
NASDAQ Stock Market - Symbol [1SX

Transfer Agent
Wells Fargo Minnesota, N.A.
South St. Paul, Minnesota

Investor Contact
William A. Mahan
Chief Financial Officer

Investor inquiries, inciuding requests for
Securities and Exchange Commission filed
documents and other information, may be
obtained by writing the Company’s Corporate
Office located at: 1480 South Hohokam Drive,
Tempe, Arizona 85281.

Annual Meeting
The ‘Annual Meeting for the year ended
December 31, 2001 will be held May 22, 2002
at the Fiesta Inn located at 2100 South Priest
Drive, Tempe, Arizona 85282 at 9:30 am.
Pacific Standard Time.

IS Locations
Arizona, Colorado, Massachusetts, New York,
Oregon, Wisconsin, England and India.

For More Information
Please visit www.iis.com
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